
Meeting of:  Cabinet
Date: Tuesday, 29th August, 2017
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth B&C , First Floor, Training & 

Conference Suite, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal or 
personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business which, 
by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 3 - 11

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 25th 
July 2017.  

6.  EDENFIELD ROAD, ROCHDALE - SANDY LANE TO CUTGATE - 
OBJECTIONS TO TRAFFIC ORDER 

12 - 51

To consider objections raised to an advertised Traffic Order on 
Edenfield Road, Rochdale (Sandy Lane to Cutgate).  

Public Document Pack



7.  PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 52 - 124

To consider a draft revised Playing Pitch Strategy. 

8.  PROPERTY & INVESTMENT CABINET SUB-COMMITTEE 125 - 132

To consider the creation of a single Cabinet Sub-Committee to replace 
three existing Sub-Committees. 

9.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

10.  FUTURE FUNDING OF LOCAL WELFARE PROVISION 133 - 143

To consider the funding commitments of the Local Welfare Provision 
budget. 

Cabinet Members
Councillor Ashley Dearnley Councillor Daalat Ali
Councillor Jacqueline Beswick Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Richard Farnell Councillor Donna Martin E
Councillor Peter Williams Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James or Michael Garraway
01706 924711 or 924716
Committee.Services@Rochdale.Gov.UK



CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING
Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 25th July 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Farnell (in the Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, 
Beswick, Brett, Neil Emmott, Emsley, Peter Williams, Heakin (substituting for 
Councillor Martin) and Hornby (substituting for Councillor Daalat Ali).

OFFICERS:  S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), M. Widdup (Director of 
Neighbourhoods), S. Downey (Director of Adult Care), G. Hopper (Director of 
Children’s Services), S. McIvor (Joint Director of Integrated Commissioning), 
A. Fallon (Director of Public Health), V. Bradshaw (Assistant Director – 
Finance), J. Rooney (Assistant Director – Information, Customers and 
Communities), D. Bowler (Assistant Director – Place), M. Robinson (Assistant 
Director – Planning and Development), J. Butterworth (Economy Directorate), 
B. Adams (Children’s Directorate), K. McKenzie and P. Thompson (Resources 
Directorate).    

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  two members of the public.

APOLOGIES
20 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Daalat Ali and 
Martin.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
21 There were no declarations of interests.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
22 The Chair advised that an additional item of business entitled ‘Future of 
the Section 48 AGMA Grants Scheme’, should be accepted onto the agenda 
as a late item on the grounds that any delay likely to be caused in not 
considering the item would prejudice the processing of grants by the 10 
constituent local authorities in Greater Manchester that comprise AGMA.

Decision:
The report ‘Future of the Section 48 AGMA Grants Scheme’, be accepted 
onto the agenda. 

FUTURE OF THE SECTION 48 AGMA GRANTS SCHEME
23 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive which advised 
that the AGMA Executive operated a grant scheme under Section 48 of the 
Local Government Act 1985 (“the 1985 Act”) on behalf of the ten Greater 
Manchester district councils. The current 2015/18 programme of grant funding 
to “eligible voluntary organisations” (was defined in the 1985 Act) was agreed 
in December 2014 by AGMA Executive and was for a three year period. 
Initially funding was only guaranteed for the first year, with funding for years 2 
and 3 of the programme being subject to the availability of funds. However, 
ultimately all three years are to be funded. The scheme is currently in year 2 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



of the current three year funding cycle, which is due to end at the finish of the 
2017/18 financial year. Funding for year 3 was agreed at the joint 
AGMA/GMCA Executive Board on 16th December 2016. The total funding for 
the three year programme is £9,943,906, including a total of £210,000 for 
programme management support.  

AGMA Leaders had previously suggested that they would like to review 
options for the development of a new programme for culture under the GMCA, 
with a view to aligning the start of the new programme with the closure of the 
Section 48 scheme.

Alternatives considered:

The alternative option was to advise the GMCA that this Authority prefers not 
amend the existing scheme or provide other proposals in which GMCA could 
operate a grant scheme.

Decision:

1. The Cabinet gives initial consideration to the case for closure of the 
Section 48 AGMA Grants programme and authorise a consultation on 
closure of the scheme to be undertaken by AGMA to inform a final 
decision on closure to be taken at a later date;

2. The Cabinet support the development of a new funding programme for 
culture, under the GMCA, as a potential replacement for the Section 48 
Scheme;

3. The Cabinet notes that it is intended to run the consultation for a new 
Combined Authority programme for culture at the same time as the 
consultation on closure of the Section 48 scheme.

Reasons for the recommendation:

The recommendation contained in the report require each of the ten 
constituent Councils in Greater Manchester to approve the proposals prior to 
consultation being undertaken with currently funded groups and other 
interested parties.

Eligible for Call-in: Yes.

MINUTES
24 Decision:

That the Minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on 13th and 27th June 
2017 be approved as correct records and signed by the Chair.

REVIEW OF COMMUNITY CENTRE FUNDING
25 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods 
which summarised the outcome of consultation with two community centres, 

Page 4



being Wardleworth and Castlemere, following the approval of community 
centre review criteria that had previously been approved by Cabinet on the 
21st November 2016. Following the consultation exercise a proposal was 
submitted by Wardleworth Community Centre to operate the community 
centre on a reduced grant of £37,360: resulting in a saving of £9,340 which 
equated to a saving of 20%.

Alternatives considered: 

An alternative proposal was submitted by Wardleworth Community Centre, 
which was considered by the Cabinet.

Decision:

(1) The Cabinet reviews the outcome of the consultation undertaken during 
Phase 2 of the savings proposals, which was the application of the 
approved criteria to review the use of community centres previously 
approved by Cabinet on the 21 November 2016;

(2) The Cabinet agrees to reduce grant funding to the two lowest scoring 
community centres being Wardleworth and Castlemere by 20% being a 
reduction of £4,670 and £1,310 respectively.

Reasons for the recommendations:

In order to contribute to the Council’s savings requirement it had been 
necessary to examine all areas of non-statutory service provision. Phase 1 
savings proposal (report reference - NH-2017-311) had reported following 
consultation, a proposed criteria for an impact assessment of each of the 
grant-funded community centres.  The proposed criteria had been the subject 
of formal consultation during Phase 1 of the savings proposals that was 
approved by the Cabinet on 21 November 2016.

The Cabinet’s members had carefully considered the alternative proposal 
submitted by Wardleworth Community Centre and had agreed that a 20% 
reduction would be appropriate in the circumstances.  In the spirit of fairness, 
it was considered appropriate to also reduce the grant paid to Castlemere 
Community Centre also by 20%.

Eligible for Call-in: Yes.

INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
INTEGRATED HEALTH AND CARE DELIVERY
26 The Cabinet considered a report of the Joint Director of Commissioning 
which described progress towards Integrated Commissioning and future plans 
for the development of one Integrated Commissioning Function for Health, 
Social Care and Public Health for Rochdale.

Page 5



The report outlined the requirements for the new commissioning and delivery 
of Health and Care in Rochdale; namely an Integrated Commissioning 
function and a Local Care Organisation for all Adults Health and Care.

The report described the progress towards a single management function for 
the Council and HMR CCG (Heywood, Middleton Rochdale Clinical 
commissioning Group) with the Chief Executive of the Council becoming the 
Chief Accountable Officer for HMR CCG within the next 12 months.  The Joint 
Director of Commissioning will take on the Director of Adult Social Services 
(DASS) responsibilities.

Members of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
had been consulted on the proposals on 20th July 2017.

Alternatives considered: To ensure that the Council and HMR CCG have a 
governance system and management structure in place, that is able to 
oversee the Financial Planning, Strategic Development and Delivery of Health 
and Social Care for the Borough of Rochdale. 

Decision:

(1) The Cabinet approves the revised Terms of Reference for the ICB and 
the governance arrangements associated with this; 

(2) The Cabinet approves the delegations to the ICB;

(3) The Cabinet approves the new governance and decision making 
structures; and delegates minor amendments to the Governance 
arrangements to the Chief Executive of the Council in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Health and Wellbeing, and the Leader of the 
Council and Chair of HMR CCG Governing Body.

Reasons for the recommendations:

The recommendations were presented to ensure that the Council and HMR 
CCG has a governance system and management structure in place, that is 
able to oversee the Financial Planning, Strategic Development and Delivery of 
Health and Social Care for the Borough of Rochdale; and to ensure that the 
Council and HMR CCG are both compliant with Greater Manchester’s ‘Taking 
Charge’ 2015 and had effective Governance and Financial controls in place 
for the delivery of the Transformation Fund agreement.

Eligible for call-in: No. Members of the Health, Schools and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee were consulted on the proposals detailed in the 
report on 20th July 2017.

NEED FOR EXTRA YEAR 7 PLACES 2018 - 2027
27 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children’s Services 
that presented information on the Secondary School Place Planning in the 
Rochdale Township for 2018 to 2027 for Secondary Year 7 places.

Page 6



Alternatives considered:

If the extra capacity could not be added to Matthew Moss Secondary and with 
every other Secondary school in the Borough due to be full to capacity, either 
temporary classroom accommodation would need to be put in place or the 
authority would need to offer places out of the Borough. 

Decision:

The Cabinet approves proposals to meet the additional demand for Year 7 
places in 2018 at Matthew Moss Secondary School in Rochdale Township.

Reasons for the recommendations:

Rochdale Local Authority has a statutory duty to ensure that there are enough 
school places for children in its area who want them; to make arrangements 
for parents to apply for school places and to ensure every parent in the 
borough receives the offer of a school place. The Council exercises this duty 
by planning for enough school places.

Eligible for Call-in: Yes.

NON DOMESTIC RATES - DISCRETIONARY RELIEF POLICY 
AMENDMENTS
28 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer which 
proposed amendments to the current Non Domestic Rates Discretionary 
Relief Policy in relation to discretionary business rates discounts outlined by 
government in its Spring Budget 2017.

Alternatives considered:

The changes to the Policy have been determined by Government. No 
alternatives could therefore be considered for the amendments in relation to 
small business transitional rates relief and support for local pubs. Alternatives 
for the operation of the local discretionary business rates relief scheme were 
outlined in the main report.

Decision: 

The Cabinet approve the policy amendments as detailed in the submitted 
report and in Appendix A in relation to:

(a) supporting small business relief;
(b) support for pubs scheme;
(c) the local discretionary support scheme for those businesses facing   

hardship as a result of increases in bills due to the revaluation as 
detailed at paragraph 4.5 of the submitted report;

(d) the Chief Finance Officer,  in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Corporate and Resources be delegated authority to vary the 

Page 7



Scheme award criteria as necessary to ensure that take up is 
maximised.

(e) the Chief Finance Officer,  in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Corporate and Resources be delegated authority to utilise any 
remaining balances set aside for these purposes to award a 
discretionary grant on a case by case basis where excessive 
increases in the business rates bill due to the revaluation 2017 has 
resulted in hardship for a local business.

Reasons for the Recommendations:

The Spring Budget announced by the Chancellor on 8th March 2017 outlined 
proposals to support those businesses that faced the highest increases in 
their business rates bills as a result of the revaluation. The Government had 
undertaken consultation on the proposals and has now announced guidance 
for local authorities to implement support through existing discretionary relief 
powers to reduce bills to local businesses.

Eligible for Call-in: No. The report was considered by the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 18th July 2017.

FINANCE UPDATE REPORT 2017/18
29 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer which 
informed Members of the Council’s financial position as at the end of May 
2017. Effective financial management was considered essential if the Council 
was to keep spending within available resources. It was also vital that services 
make adjustments in spending to ensure that they spend in line with their 
approved budgets.

Alternatives considered:

Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 
regarded as critical to ensure that financial resources are spent in line with the 
budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables 
the early identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely 
corrective action.

Decision:

1. The Cabinet notes the 2017/18 Budget position for Capital, Revenue, 
Savings & the Collection Fund as at 31st May 2017;

2. The Cabinet approves the Capital Virement request as detailed at 
paragraph 4.1.2 of the submitted report;

3. The Cabinet approves the Allocation of Capital Receipts to the Asset 
Management Group scheme detailed at paragraph 4.1.3 of the 
submitted report;

4. Approval is given to the Revenue Budget Pressure Fund requests 
detailed at paragraph 4.2.4 of the submitted report.

Page 8



Reasons for the recommendations:

Cabinet Members were to be kept updated on the financial position of the 
authority, as effective budget management was critical to ensuring financial 
resources are spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the 
Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early identification of variations 
against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action. The submitted report 
provided an overview of the Financial Position for the Council and focuses on 
the position as at the end of May 2017.  A further detailed report was due to 
be submitted to the Cabinet in September.

Eligible for Call-in: No. The report was considered by the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 18th July 2017.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
30 Decision:
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following three items of business, in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

Reason for Decision:
Should the press and public remain during debate on these items there may 
be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 and 
3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

CASTLETON SWIMMING POOL
31 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Economy which 
detailed proposals for Castleton Swimming Pool, which was managed and 
operated by Link4Life. 

Alternatives considered: 

The pool could continue to be held by the Council and operated by Link4Life.  
This would require the council to invest substantial capital sums to carry out 
the repairs to the building and to continue the revenue subsidy for the 
operation of the facility.

The swimming pool could be closed and the site sold for development.  This 
could realise a small capital receipt for the council although this is unlikely as 
the cost of demolishing the pool is likely to be greater than the development 
value of the site.

Decision:

(1) Castleton Swimming Pool should transfer by way of a 125 year lease at 
a peppercorn rent to Castleton Leisure Centre Limited; a subsidiary of 
Crewe Industrial Services Limited;  to be held as a swimming pool for 
the benefit of the local community;

(2) a lease for 125 years, initially rent free, be granted to Castleton Leisure 

Page 9



Centre Limited for the use of the car park at Castleton Library and 
Community Centre.

(3) the Council supported by Link4Life provide details of the requirements 
and expectations for Health and Safety  and provide advice received to 
date in relation to ensuring safety;

(4) The Acting Director of Resources be authorised to advise appropriate 
Council Services and to prepare the appropriate legal documents and 
execute such documents on behalf of the Council.

Reasons for the recommendations:

Castleton Pool is currently closed and is in need of substantial repair before it 
can re-open to the public. The transfer of the swimming pool to Castleton 
Leisure Centre Limited will secure much needed investment in the facility and 
secure its future.  Crewe Industrial Services Limited is prepared to invest the 
necessary resources to secure the future of the pool.

Eligible for call-in; Yes

CLG FLOODING FUNDING AND PRIORITIES (FLOODING FUNDING 
FROM STORM EVA)
32 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods 
which reminded Members of the significant flooding in the Borough, arising 
from the unprecedented rainfall on 26th December 2015. The heavy rainfall on 
already saturated ground, combined with run-off from the Pennines, led to 
overtopping of the Rivers Roch, Ealees and Beal, with flooding affecting in 
particular Rochdale town centre and Littleborough.

Alternatives considered:

No alternatives were considered.

Decision:

The Cabinet approves the Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated 
Transport and Highway Maintenance) Specific Grant determination (2016/17) 
No.31/274 be used for works required after the Boxing Day floods in 
accordance with the submitted report.

Reasons for the Recommendations:

The recommendations allowed Officers to expend the funding received which 
is in excess of £1million.

Eligible for Call-in: Yes.

Page 10



INCREASING DEMAND IN CHILDREN WITH DISABILITY & SEN 
SERVICES
33 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children’s Services 
which detailed the key local and national drivers that are impacting on 
demand on the Children with Disabilities (CWD) and Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) service setting out the increasing demands on the Local 
Authority in relation to support the Council is required to provide to children 
and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
and to highlight the need for additional resources specifically in relation to a 
permanent increase in staffing and an increase in the SEN Home to School 
Transport budget.

Alternatives considered:

The alternative option was to not bridge the funding gap highlighted in the 
submitted report.

Decision:

(1) The Cabinet approves that the SEN Assessment Team’s budget be 
increased by £204,000 in 2018/19 with the pressure being contained 
within the overall Children’s Services budget for 2017/18; this includes 
an additional Educational Psychologist post and £5,000 to purchase 
mediation services;

(2) The Home to School Transport Budget be increased by £208,000 on 
an ongoing basis;

(3) If the implementation grant is withdrawn in 2018/19 the SEN budget be 
increased by a further £150,000;

(4) Any proposed establishment changes be agreed as a basis for formal 
consultation and considered for approval under the Council’s 
Constitution.

Reasons for the recommendations:
 
The recommendations were presented to ensure that the Local Authority is 
able to respond to the increasing demands in relation to SEND and meet its 
statutory duties.

Eligible for Call-in: Yes.

Page 11



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 29th August 2017 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Housing & Environment
Report Author Paul Wotton
Private Document Public

Edenfield Road, Rochdale (Sandy Lane to Cutgate)  Objections to 
Traffic Order

Executive Summary

1. This report is to inform Members of objections received to this proposed Order 
and seek a decision about the extent of the scheme to be implemented. 

Recommendation

2. That the advertised the proposed Traffic Regulation Order, Borough of 
Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) (Various Streets) 
(Rochdale Township) Order 2008) (Amendment) (No. 108) Order be 
implemented in light of the representations received; at Edenfield Road, 
Rochdale (Sandy Lane to Cutgate) as originally proposed to the Rochdale 
Township Action & Resources Sub-Committee.

Reason for Recommendation

3.

3.1

To comply with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders, Regulations 1996, the
Authority must consider all objections submitted during the consultation period 
of at least 21 days before ‘Making’ a Traffic Regulation Order.

The proposed Order is deemed strategic in nature and requires a decision by 
Cabinet.   .

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

This Traffic Regulation Order proposal has been prepared for Rochdale 
Township Action and Resources Delegated sub-Committee. At the public 
advertisement stage nine objections were received which were reported to 
the sub-Committee on 7 March 2017. During the preparation of this scheme 
some 5 supportive service requests have been received.

The Committee decided – “That (1) consideration of the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order, Borough of Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.7.1

4.7.2

4.7.3

4.7.4

4.8

Contraventions) (Various Streets) (Rochdale Township) Order 2008) 
(Amendment) (No. 108) Order be referred to the Cabinet for determination;

(2) the Director of Neighbourhoods be requested to submit an additional 
and revised proposal to the Cabinet for consideration and decision which 
continues to address issues of driver visibility and road safety when 
accessing Edenfield Road from side streets in the affected area”.

Approximately 13500 vehicles use Edenfield Road (A680) in an average day 
which emphasises its importance to the highway network.

Two plans illustrating the advertised proposals are contained in Appendix 1 at 
the end of this report.

The detailed Statement of Reasons for the whole scheme is to be found in 
Appendix 2 of this report.

Observations continue to show that implementing the bus stop clearways will 
make negligible difference to the amount of kerbside parking available.

Restrictions proposed for the south side of Edenfield Road immediately to the 
west of Sandy Lane will remove a narrowing caused by parked vehicles which 
impede and create a pinch point for traffic including cyclists heading out of 
Rochdale. The proposed restrictions only extend to a point where the present 
marked unrestricted parking bay becomes wide enough to fit a car in without 
obstructing the cycle lane.

Denehurst Park/Passmonds bend (north side)

This location is the stated concern of objectors B1, B2, and B3 and having 
been carefully examined remains in the Highways Officers’ opinion justified 
for introduction of the originally proposed ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ 
restrictions.

Any parked vehicles in this location do obstruct forward visibility and a cycle 
lane. The forward visibility issue concerns the safe operation of the junction at 
Denehurst Park car park entrance where vehicles can be stopped to turn 
across Edenfield Road, and the risk of reduced visibility and awareness of 
queueing traffic ahead on the approach to Ings Lane/Sandy Lane traffic 
signals which could lead to heavy braking and potentially losses of control.

The intended restrictions would not prevent vehicles stopping to load/unload 
or allow passengers to board/alight from a vehicle. The ordinary motorist’s 
ability to park would be denied, except for the 3 hour concession afforded to 
blue disabled badge holders.

Observations continue to show that there is abundant parking space 
commonly available on the opposite (south) side of Edenfield Road in marked 
out unrestricted bays, which is clearly not as convenient to the affected 
objectors and residents as parking on their own side of the road.

Junction Protection

Page 13



4.8.1

4.8.2

4.8.3

4.9

4.9.1

4.9.2

4.9.3

4.9.4

At side streets Baildon Road, Phyllis Street, Passmonds Crescent and the 
entrance to Cutgate Precinct car park ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restrictions 
were devised in response to service requests about the difficulty in using 
some of these junctions with Edenfield Road caused by vehicles parking 
close to the junctions.

Care has been taken to minimise shortening of existing unrestricted parking 
bays on Edenfield Road, having taken into account the visibility at each 
junction, and therefore no alternative is being offered.

None of the objectors have commented on the difficulty of using the side 
street junctions which are the subject of the four supportive comments in 
background papers Appendix E together with a similar opinion expressed in a 
recent fifth service request received. 

Alternative Considered

Edenfield Road (south side) Upper Passmonds Grove to Cutgate
 
Objections C1, C2, C3, and C4 cover this section of Edenfield Road. Vehicles 
are observed regularly parking and impeding traffic flow, hindering traffic 
passing in opposing directions. Observations continue to show that vehicles 
regularly park at this location partially on the footway inconveniencing 
pedestrians, and in more extreme (and regular) instances fully occupying the 
footway forcing pedestrians out into the path of traffic in the carriageway, 
clearly placing some pedestrians unacceptably at risk.

Pedestrian users include children on their way to and from schools and 
shops, particularly those situated at Cutgate precinct.

An alternative to consider could be to reduce the proposed ‘No Waiting At 
Any Time’ restriction over a 117 metres long section as shown on the drawing 
in Appendix 3 at the end of this report to ‘No Waiting Monday – Saturday 
7.30-9.30am and 4.00-6.30pm’. The intention of these restriction periods 
would be to assist the passage of through traffic at the busiest times.
It should be noted that outside of these times, Edenfield Road is still well 
trafficked by light and heavy vehicles, and bus routes which operate for 18 
hours per day generally 7 buses per hour.

It would, however, only partially solve the observed problem of vehicles 
parking on the footway and is not supported or recommended by Highways 
Officers.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The proposed Traffic Regulation Order is a Rochdale Township Action and 
Resources Delegated Sub-Committee scheme, and is therefore funded from 
Township Capital Funds. The estimated cost is £4000.  Amendments to the 
proposals may require additional funding to fully introduce them.

Page 14



Risk and Policy Implications

6.

6.1

6.2

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that its highways operate safely 
and efficiently for all traffic including pedestrians including the expeditious 
movement of traffic and that the only right the general public has on the 
highway is a right of passage along it.

Should Members support a relaxation of the proposed restrictions described in 
Paragraph 4.9.3 above, then this would need to be removed from the current 
TRO proposal to allow completion of the remainder.

An amended proposal would need separately consulting upon and advertising 
as a separate TRO including its own objection period and require extra 
funding particularly for the necessary regulatory signs and poles.

Consultation

7. Further to the steps described in the original report see Background Papers 
(5.1 to 5.4) which informed development of the scheme and resulted in the 
objections under consideration, a review of the proposals and the possible 
option described in 4.9.3 above have been discussed with Ward Members.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. There are no background papers 
to this report.

For Further Information Contact: Paul Wotton
paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 15



APPENDIX 1 – Scheme Plans as advertised  Plan 1 of 2

Page 16



APPENDIX 1 – Scheme Plans as advertised  Plan 2 of 2

Page 17



APPENDIX 2 – Advertised Statement of Reasons

Taken from Report considered by Rochdale Township Action and 
Resources Delegated Sub-Committee - 7 March 2017
6 Background:

6.1 Statement of Reasons

6.1.1 Edenfield Road A680 is one of Rochdale’s strategic highways situated to the 
north-west of Rochdale town centre which carries significant traffic flows particularly
in peak hours. 

6.1.2 A service request from a member of the public has highlighted the difficulty 
caused by parked vehicles on Edenfield Road which obscure visibility close to its 
junctions with Phyllis Street and Baildon Road creating potential hazards for 
emerging motorists.

6.1.3 Instances of further indiscriminately parked vehicles on Edenfield Road have been 
found which cause

 obstructions to the free flow of through traffic particularly at peak travel times
 blockage of some parts of the cycle lanes which can force cyclists to deviate 

out into the main traffic lane
 restriction of through traffic on Edenfield Road in the vicinity of Cutgate 

Shopping Centre when parked vehicles hinder efficient use of the right turn 
lane into the centre.

 
6.1.4 No Waiting At Any Time restrictions are proposed to remove parked vehicles

from the
 approach to Edenfield Road along each of Baildon Road, Phyllis Street and 

Passmonds Crescent
 approach to Edenfield Road along Amy Street which already has restrictions 

marked on it which do not appear in a Traffic Regulation Order
 informal white hatched markings on Edenfield Road at the junctions of each 

of Baildon Road, Phyllis Street, and Passmonds Crescent. Marked out 
parking bays on Edenfield Road in these locations are mostly reduced in 
length to further improve junction visibility for both emerging traffic from side 
streets and increase their conspicuity to main road traffic

 westbound exit from Sandy Lane junction to protect a section of cycle lane 
up to a point where an existing marked unrestricted parking bay reaches 
sufficient width for a vehicle to fit in it without obstructing the cycle lane

 eastbound cycle lane beyond Passmonds Crescent heading towards Sandy 
Lane where it is frequently obstructed by parked vehicles up to and including 
the bus stop situated in the layby just before the Sandy Lane junction

 south side of Edenfield Road between Upper Passmonds Grove and 
Cutgate Shopping Centre where isolated indiscriminately parked vehicles do 
restrict the free movement of through traffic

 north side of Edenfield Road between the pelican crossing situated to the 
west of Amy Street to Somerset Grove where isolated indiscriminately 
parked vehicles do restrict the free movement of through traffic.

6.1.5 At 4 bus stops the proposed No Waiting At Any Time restrictions are to be 
supported by No Stopping Except Buses restrictions.

Page 18



6.1.6 At 2 bus stops situated where there are no proposals to introduce any waiting 
restrictions No Stopping Except Buses restrictions are proposed between the hours 
7am and 11pm.

6.1.7 Marked unrestricted parking bays situated on the south side of the Edenfield Road 
dual carriageway section between Willbutts Lane and Upper Passmonds Grove 
remain unaltered except for a minor increase in the length of a bus stop marking 
situated opposite Passmonds Crescent.

6.1.8 There have been three recorded injury accidents in the last 3 years on the section of 
Edenfield Road under consideration.

Page 19



APPENDIX 3 – Possible alternative restrictions – June 2017

Page 20



Report considered by Rochdale Township Action and Resources Delegated 
Sub-Committee - 7 March 2017

Title: Edenfield Road, Rochdale - Sandy 
Lane to Cutgate - Objections to Traffic Order

Public/Private: For Publication/Not for 
Publication

Report to: Cabinet

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for 
Housing & Environment

Report Author: Paul Wotton

Date: 7 March 2017

Director:    Director of Neighbourhoods.

Tel: 01706 924593  

Author Email:    
paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes/No

Comments from Statutory Officers: Monitoring Officer:  Yes/No
Section 151 Officer: Yes/No 

1 Purpose of the report

1.1       This report is to advise Members of objections received to a proposed introduction of 
‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restrictions on parts of Edenfield Road, Rochdale (A680) 
between Sandy Lane and Cutgate, in Spotland & Falinge Ward.  

2 Recommendations

2.1       It is recommended that the Committee considers whether the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order, Borough of Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic 
Contraventions) (Various Streets) (Rochdale Township) Order 2008) (Amendment) 
(No. 108) Order be implemented in light of the representations received which are 
outlined in Section 7 of this report.

3 Reason for Recommendation

3.1 To comply with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders, Regulations 1996 the 
Authority must consider all objections submitted during the consultation period of at 
least 21 days (see Section 7) before ‘Making’ a Traffic Regulation Order.

3.2 The Committee should consider the objections received and make a decision as to 
whether the scheme can be progressed and the new restrictions introduced.

3.3  It should be noted that in considering the report, the proposed Order is deemed 
strategic in nature and should be dealt with in accordance with Section F2 of the 
Scheme of Delegation to Township Committee. Committee has delegated power to 
confirm the proposals and the Order. However, if the Committee wish not to confirm 
the proposals and the Order, the matter must be referred to Cabinet for decision.

4 Alternatives Considered

4.1 Consider recommending to Cabinet that the proposal be abandoned
Page 21



4.1.1 The proposal to make a Traffic Regulation Order affecting sections of Edenfield Road 
(A680) and into several of its side streets in the Spotland & Falinge Ward has been 
developed for and commissioned by Rochdale Township Action and Resources 
Delegated Sub-Committee.

4.1.2 Should Committee decide not to introduce the restrictions proposed then issues of 
junction visibility, forward visibility and impeding the free passage of through traffic 
will not be addressed by continuing with the current level of restriction on the 
highway.

4.1.3  It should be noted that this Traffic Regulation Order is proposed as a consequence 
of indiscriminate parking along the lengths of roads concerned affecting driver 
visibility and road safety. To address this issue it is necessary to introduce the 
proposed Order as originally advertised (see Appendix A).

5 Consultation Undertaken

5.1 Consultation required by the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders, Regulations 1996 has 
taken place.

5.2 The Emergency Services, Transport for Greater Manchester, The Freight
Transport Association and the Road Haulage Association have been consulted.

5.3 Notices of intention were posted on site and published in the local newspaper on 25th 
May 2016.

5.4 The objection period ended on 22nd June 2016.

6 Background:

6.1 Statement of Reasons

6.1.1 Edenfield Road A680 is one of Rochdale’s strategic highways situated to the 
north-west of Rochdale town centre which carries significant traffic flows particularly
in peak hours. 

6.1.2 A service request from a member of the public has highlighted the difficulty 
caused by parked vehicles on Edenfield Road which obscure visibility close to its 
junctions with Phyllis Street and Baildon Road creating potential hazards for 
emerging motorists.

6.1.3 Instances of further indiscriminately parked vehicles on Edenfield Road have been 
found which cause

 obstructions to the free flow of through traffic particularly at peak travel times
 blockage of some parts of the cycle lanes which can force cyclists to deviate 

out into the main traffic lane
 restriction of through traffic on Edenfield Road in the vicinity of Cutgate 

Shopping Centre when parked vehicles hinder efficient use of the right turn 
lane into the centre.

 
6.1.4 No Waiting At Any Time restrictions are proposed to remove parked vehicles

from the
 approach to Edenfield Road along each of Baildon Road, Phyllis Street and 

Passmonds Crescent
 approach to Edenfield Road along Amy Street which already has restrictions 

marked on it which do not appear in a Traffic Regulation Order

Page 22



 informal white hatched markings on Edenfield Road at the junctions of each 
of Baildon Road, Phyllis Street, and Passmonds Crescent. Marked out 
parking bays on Edenfield Road in these locations are mostly reduced in 
length to further improve junction visibility for both emerging traffic from side 
streets and increase their conspicuity to main road traffic

 westbound exit from Sandy Lane junction to protect a section of cycle lane 
up to a point where an existing marked unrestricted parking bay reaches 
sufficient width for a vehicle to fit in it without obstructing the cycle lane

 eastbound cycle lane beyond Passmonds Crescent heading towards Sandy 
Lane where it is frequently obstructed by parked vehicles up to and including 
the bus stop situated in the layby just before the Sandy Lane junction

 south side of Edenfield Road between Upper Passmonds Grove and 
Cutgate Shopping Centre where isolated indiscriminately parked vehicles do 
restrict the free movement of through traffic

 north side of Edenfield Road between the pelican crossing situated to the 
west of Amy Street to Somerset Grove where isolated indiscriminately 
parked vehicles do restrict the free movement of through traffic.

6.1.5 At 4 bus stops the proposed No Waiting At Any Time restrictions are to be 
supported by No Stopping Except Buses restrictions.

6.1.6 At 2 bus stops situated where there are no proposals to introduce any waiting 
restrictions No Stopping Except Buses restrictions are proposed between the hours 
7am and 11pm.

6.1.7 Marked unrestricted parking bays situated on the south side of the Edenfield Road 
dual carriageway section between Willbutts Lane and Upper Passmonds Grove 
remain unaltered except for a minor increase in the length of a bus stop marking 
situated opposite Passmonds Crescent.

6.1.8 There have been three recorded injury accidents in the last 3 years on the section of 
Edenfield Road under consideration.

6.2 The Notice of Intention and two associated plans illustrate the proposals at Appendix 
A of this report.

Page 23



7 Report

7.1 During the consultation period the Authority received nine objections.

7.2 The Objectors can be grouped into three affected sections of Edenfield Road.

7.3 Three Objections concerned with Denehurst Park/Passmonds bend are reproduced 
in Appendix B of this report together with the Director of Neighbourhoods’ response.

7.4 Four Objections concerned with the Upper Passmonds Grove to Cutgate (south side) 
are reproduced in Appendix C of this report together with the Director of 
Neighbourhoods’ response.

7.5 Two Objections concerned with parking matters on the north side are reproduced in 
Appendix D of this report together with the Director of Neighbourhoods’ response.

7.6 Four expressions of support for the proposals contained in this scheme have been 
also been received. It is quite unusual to receive such significant support for this kind 
of scheme and further emphasises the underlying justification for the proposals by 
highway users. Appendix E of this report contains extracts from the comments 
received.

7.7 In considering the objections the Committee should be mindful that the only right 
the general public has on the highway is a right of passage along it. The Authority 

has 
both a duty of care to ensure the safety of the travelling public and a duty under the 
Traffic Management Act 2004 to maintain the expeditious movement of traffic.

7.8 Rules 242 and 243 of the Highway Code state that motorists should not cause 
an unnecessary obstruction of the road or park within 10 metres of a junction.

7.9 None of the Objectors make adverse comments about the advertised proposal to 
introduce six Bus Stop Clearways to existing bus stops along Edenfield Road. One 
Objector does make a supportive comment about protection of bus stops; “I think that 
clearway markings for buses would be a good idea; I think buses need to have better 
treatment on Edenfield Road”. It is therefore recommended that the Committee 
approves their introduction.

7.10 The proposed Traffic Regulation Order does not contain loading restrictions therefore 
disabled persons would be able to use their ‘up to 3 hours’ blue badge parking 
concessions except on the short sections of Edenfield Road where the six bus stops 
are situated. 

8  Legal Implications

8.1 The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that its highways operate safely and
efficiently for all traffic including pedestrians.

9 Financial Implications

9.1 The proposed Traffic Regulation Order is a Rochdale Township Action and 
Resources Delegated Sub-Committee scheme, and is therefore funded from 
Township Capital Funds. The estimated cost is £4000.

Page 24



10 Personnel Implications

10.1 This scheme has no implications.

11 Corporate Priorities

11.1 The proposed scheme is generated by Rochdale Township Action and Resources 
Delegated Sub-Committee.

12 Risk Assessment Implications 

12.1 There are no risk assessment implications.

13 Equalities Impacts

13.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

13.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

A detailed Equality Impact assessment is attached as an Appendix to this report. The 
Equality Impact Assessment at Sections 10, 11, 12, and 13 identifies that;

 Disabled persons may benefit from the proposed scheme by a reduction in 
the obstruction of kerbside, footways and visibility by parked vehicles making 
it easier to cross roads.

 Bus stop clearways are intended to assist public transport.
 The scheme does not contain loading restrictions therefore disabled persons 

would be able to use their ‘up to 3 hours’ parking concessions. 
 It further identifies that the proposed restrictions will not prevent motorists 

stopping to allow a passenger to board or alight.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection

Page 25



APPENDIX  A – Notice of Intention and Plans
Notice of Intention

TRO Ref No H60/1196

BOROUGH OF ROCHDALE
((CIVIL ENFORCEMENT OF TRAFFIC CONTRAVENTIONS)

(VARIOUS STREETS) (ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP) ORDER 2008)
(AMENDMENT) (NO. 108) ORDER

Edenfield Road, Rochdale

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Rochdale Borough Council, in exercise of its 
powers under Sections 1(1), 2 and 4 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, intend to 
make an Order, the effect of which would be to:-

     (i) Amend the Borough of Rochdale (Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) 
(Various Streets) (Rochdale Township) Order 2008 by inserting the following:-

Schedule No. 1.1
No Waiting At Any Time

Amy Street, Spotland & Falinge Ward

n(i) the west side from its junction with Edenfield Road for a distance of 15 metres in 
a northerly direction

n(ii) the east side from its junction with Edenfield Road for a distance of 13 metres in 
a northerly direction

Baildon Road, Spotland & Falinge Ward

n(i) both sides from its junction with Edenfield Road for a distance of 15 metres in a 
northerly direction

Edenfield Road, Spotland & Falinge Ward

n(i) the northerly side from a point 5 metres south-west of its junction with Moorland 
Terrace to a point 41 metres west of its junction with Baildon Road

n(ii) the north side from a point 15 metres west of its junction with Baildon Road to a 
point 15 metres east of its junction with Baildon Road

n(iii) the north side from a point 15 metres west of its junction with Phyllis Street to a 
point 10 metres east of its junction with Phyllis Street

n(iv) the north-east side from a point 15 metres north-west of its junction with 
Passmonds Crescent to a point 18 metres south-east of its junction with 
Passmonds Crescent

n(v) the northerly side from a point 40 metres south-east of its junction with 
Passmonds Crescent to a point 47 metres east of its junction with the un-named 
access leading to Lisbon Street

n(vi) the south side from a point 29 metres east of its junction with Sandy Lane to a 
point 46 metres west of its junction with Sandy Lane

Page 26



n(vii) the southerly side from a point 15 metres east of its junction with Upper 
Passmonds Grove to a point 108 metres east of its junction with Pargate Chase

Passmonds Crescent, Spotland & Falinge Ward

n(i) both sides from its junction with Edenfield Road for a distance of 15 metres in a 
north-easterly direction

Phyllis Street, Spotland & Falinge Ward

n(i) the west side from its junction with Edenfield Road for a distance of 17 metres in 
a northerly direction

n(ii) the east side from its junction with Edenfield Road for a distance of 15 metres in 
a northerly direction

24 hour Bus Stop Clearway
Edenfield Road, Spotland & Falinge Ward

north side from a point 15 metres east of its junction with Amy Street for a  
distance of 18 metres in an easterly direction

north-east side from a point 5 metres south-east of its junction with Passmonds 
Crescent for a distance of 13 metres in a south-easterly direction

north side from a point 13 metres east its junction with the un-named access 
leading to Lisbon Street for a distance of 34 metres in an easterly direction

south side from a point 22 metres west of its junction with the un-named access 
leading to Cutgate Shopping Centre for a distance of 34 metres in a westerly 
direction

7am – 11pm Bus Stop Clearway
Edenfield Road, Spotland & Falinge Ward

south side from a point 67 metres west of its junction with Sandy Lane for a 
distance of 20 metres in a westerly direction

south-west side from a point 89 metres south-east of its junction with Upper 
Passmonds Grove for a distance of 23 metres in a south-easterly direction

     (ii) Revoke those parts of the Borough of Rochdale (Civil Enforcement of Traffic 
Contraventions) (Various Streets) (Rochdale Township) Order 2008, as follows:-

Schedule No. 1.1
No Waiting At Any Time

Edenfield Road, Spotland & Falinge Ward

n(i) the north westerly side from a point 42 metres south west of its junction with 
Meadow View to a point 5 metres south west of its junction with Moorland 
Terrace.

Page 27



(iii) the north side from a point 34 metres east of its junction with Meadow View to a 
point 42 metres west of its junction with Meadow View

n(iv) The northerly side from a point 34 metres east of its junction with Meadow View 
for a distance of 43 metres in an easterly direction

(iv) the north side from its junction with Amy Street to a point 15 metres east of its 
junction with Amy Street

(vii) the south side from a point 15 metres west of its junction with Sandy Lane to a 
point 29 metres east of its junction with Sandy Lane

n(iii) the southerly side from a point 15 metres east of its junction with Upper 
Passmonds Grove to a point 15 metres west of its junction with Upper Passmonds 
Grove.

(v) the south side from a point 108 metres east of its junction with Pargate Chase to 
its junction with Catches Lane

A copy of the proposed Order and a map showing the lengths of roads concerned, 
together with the Council’s Statement of Reasons for making the Order, may be 
inspected at the Customer Services Centre, Ground Floor, Number One Riverside, Smith 
Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU during normal office hours.

Objections to the proposed Order, stating the grounds on which they are made, must be 
made in writing and forwarded to trafficorders@rochdale.gov.uk or, alternatively, to 
Network Management, Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 
1XU to reach the Council on or before 22nd June 2016, quoting H60/1196.

Dated this 25th day of May 2016

David Wilcock
Assistant Director – Legal, Governance & Workforce

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside
Smith Street
ROCHDALE
OL16 1XU

Page 28



APPENDIX  A – Notice of Intention and Plans
Plan 1 of 2

Page 29



APPENDIX  A – Notice of Intention and Plans
Plan 2 of 2

Page 30



 APPENDIX B – Objections Received 
Denehurst Park/Passmonds bend

Objector B1                 . 
     . Edenfield Road, Passmonds, Rochdale OL11      .   

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of Economy 
& Environment

30th May 2016

Regarding: H60/1196

Dear Sir/Madam

I am writing in response to the recent 
proposal to add ‘No waiting at anytime’ 
restrictions outside my house on Edenfield 
Road. I am deeply upset and anxious about 
the way that this will impact on my life. I live 
at number      . which is one of the cottages 
next to Passmonds car garage. I have lived 
there for almost nine years and have parked 
there without any problems at all during that 
period.

I am extremely proud to own the house. 
When I first viewed the house I knew 
immediately that I would buy it. I spoke to 
neighbours and the estate agent about the 
parking situation and was told that historically 
there had never been any issues with parking 
outside. My father and I conducted a 
thorough security check of the area before I 
bought the house and a key factor in my 
decision was the street lighting outside the 
house and the accessible parking.

I am a female resident who lives alone. I 
work very long hours and regularly return 
home from work after dark. As a teacher I 
often return home with boxes of resources 
and students’ work. I am really concerned 
that I will not have anywhere to park when I 
get home. As a result of the restrictions that 
are being proposed up and down the road I 
honestly don’t know where I could park as an 
alternative. The thought of having to park my 
car somewhere else and walk with my 
resources and equipment in the dark really 
frightens me. This would be even worse in icy 
conditions both in the morning and at night.

At the weekend I look after my niece and 
nephew who are aged three and one. I 
couldn’t possibly get them out of my car by 
myself and get them into my house safely. At 
the same time I also can’t imagine having to 
walk with my groceries and purchases across 
a main road.

Parked vehicles do affect the flow of 
traffic at the location in question, situated 
on a left hand bend, where parked 
vehicles occupy a cycle lane, restrict 
forward visibility on the approach to the 
major junction at Sandy Lane and Ings 
Lane, and can hinder traffic wishing to 
turn right into Denehurst Park car park.

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

There can never be a guarantee that a 
road without restrictions on it will remain 
so.

In its role as Highway Authority the 
Council does not have a duty to provide 
kerbside parking for residents.

The ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions 
proposed do not restrict the ability for a 
motorist to stop and load/unload or to 
allow passengers to board or alight from a 
vehicle.

Page 31



There are only five cottages in the row and 
only four car owners. We are all professional 
people who work Monday to Friday. We 
leave in rush hour and return after rush hour 
(two of us return very late) and therefore that 
part of the road is vacant all day. At 
weekends we are out and about. The flow of 
traffic has never been affected and we are 
not blocking anybody’s view when pulling out 
of the side streets. Having said that, when we 
are parked there, there is plenty of room for 
cars, buses and HGVs to get past. There is 
also plenty of room for cyclists too. On the 
opposite side of the road (outside Denehurst 
Park) there are marked bays and a cycle 
lane. The road is the same width on both 
sides and I was wondering if a suggestion 
could be to add bays outside our houses 
alongside a cycle lane. This is the case up 
and down Edenfield Road (right into Norden 
and down to Spotland Bridge), where there 
are both bays and a cycle lane. If the parking 
bay isn’t possible then there is still plenty of 
room to extend the cycle lane. I would be 
more than happy to pay for a resident parking 
permit to limit the amount of cars that could 
park there. Another suggestion could be to 
remove the island in the middle to allow a 
little more room. The islands are relatively 
new and rarely used by pedestrians.

I have had a good look at the map outlining 
the proposals and this affects a lot of 
residents. There really isn’t anywhere else 
that the cars could move to. This will mean 
that people possibly park outside people’s 
homes on the nearby cul de sacs which could 
cause friction and unease amongst residents 
(these streets are already very busy). There 
is also a corner shop just next to Denehurst 
Park. Customers regularly park in the bays 
outside the park so these spaces are taken. 
I’m really upset at the thought of having to 
spend the future worrying about where I can 
park my car every time I go out and I am 
really anxious about it. This would be even 
worse on football match days. 
 
My neighbours and I are very courteous and 
considerate to other road users and 
pedestrians. As mentioned at the beginning 
of the letter, I have lived and parked here for 
nine years without any problems. Our cars do 
not obstruct drivers’ views or stop the flow of 
traffic. I appreciate that cyclists deserve to 
feel safe on the roads, however the cycle 
lane outside my home could be extended and 
as I mentioned before, the spaces are empty 

Other vehicles can and have been 
observed to park at the kerbside during 
these times.

Parked vehicles do affect the flow of 
traffic at the location in question, situated 
on a left hand bend, where parked 
vehicles occupy a cycle lane, restrict 
forward visibility on the approach to the 
major junction at Sandy Lane and Ings 
Lane, and can hinder traffic wishing to 
turn right into Denehurst Park car park.

The cycle lane in this location is regularly 
obstructed by parked vehicles and the 
road is of insufficient width to create 
parking bays with a cycle lane on the 
outside of it.

Limiting parked vehicles to those of 
residents’ only would not solve the issue 
of obstruction or forward visibility.
There is insufficient width to alter the 
central reserve bearing in mind the use by 
vehicles crossing its gap to reach 
Denehurst Park car park.

Page 32



for the majority of the day.

I cannot emphasis the enormity of the 
difficulties that the restrictions would impose 
on my life. It may seem that I am using a lot 
of emotive language throughout my letter but 
I am genuinely very upset about it. After 
many years of hard work, I have for the first 
time been able to afford a brand new car. I 
would like to be able to continue parking it 
where I can see it. There have been several 
reports of criminal damage to vehicles 
around the area and I do not want to be 
victim.

I was wondering if it would be possible to 
please arrange a meeting so that we can 
discuss face to face. I have some availability 
on      . and      . if this is convenient. I really 
hope that we can discuss this further and I 
would really appreciate your time. My contact 
details are below. I look forward to hearing 
from you.

Yours faithfully             .    

Objector B2                 . 
     . Edenfield Road, Rochdale OL11      .

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

June 13th 2016
Subject:- No waiting restrictions on Edenfield 
Road Passmonds

Dear Sirs
      I wish to oppose most strongly to the 
proposed changes.

The way to make the area safer is to calm 
the traffic speed,not to prevent residents from 
parking outside their homes thus giving the 
speedsters yet another excuse to travel at 
40mph

I appreciate that no one has a god given right 
to park in front of their home, but on 
inspection of the plans it appears that some 
parking bays are being left outside homes 
which already have driveways and to leave 
others who have no driveways, without any 
parking bays ,such is the case with my 
property

Double yellow lines everywhere will make it 
look like a “Freeway” than just a busy local 
road (which it is). It will encourage speeding 
and not reduce it, as should be the case. 
People will not stop from parking on Double 

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

Restrictions are proposed where required 
for forward visibility, junction protection 
and the removal of obstruction to through 
traffic.

At present vehicles are prevented from 
travelling past occasional obstructions 
caused by indiscriminately parked 
vehicles which mean vehicles in opposing 

Page 33



Yellow lines despite the laws in force 
because there are simply not enough 
enforcement officers to deter them. The odds 
against getting caught are very low. Traffic 
wardens will be round the area like a “rash” 
round here to begin with and then because 
they cannot possibly be everywhere at once 
their visits will be fewer and less frequent. 
Football traffic in the season will be affected

Speed cameras along the stretch of road 
from Sandy Lane lights up to Cutgate would 
be the answer and are self policing.

Vehicles travelling passed my house in both 
directions are achieving speeds far in excess 
of 30mph in fact some in excess of 40mph. 
Those travelling East from Cutgate  cut the 
corner in front of my house and those of my 
neighbours and race up to the lights hoping 
to get there before they change.

If the speed along the entire length of 
Edenfield Road was calmed then there would 
be no danger to people crossing or to 
vehicles joining from the side streets.

Driving at 30mph creates gaps for cars to join 
the flow of traffic and is safer for pedestrians 
without the need to keep adding lines to 
prevent stopping which only gives these 
irresponsible drivers an excuse to travel even 
faster

Try it yourself sometime and you will find that 
it works

There is NO NEED to stop cars from parking. 
It is a 30mph area not 40mph area.If it was, 
then I would be in favour of lining the whole 
lot!! and letting the speedsters get on with it!! 
Then the number of recorded incidents WILL 
rise!!

In this day and age traffic has to be calmed 
by force these days because the modern day 
driver cannot stick to a speed limit.

I frequently travel from Edenfield. As you are 
aware the speed limit changes from 50mph 
to 40 mph and then to 30 mph as you get 
to”Nutters”. Before I have travelled many 
yards some “Boy or Girl Racer” is behind me 
wants to shove me all the way down 
Edenfield Road ,because They want to travel 
faster than 30mph

Norden village is very narrow and with lots of 
hazards, Beyond there the road widens and 

directions have on occasion to give way, 
particularly if one or both vehicles is large 
such as a bus or goods vehicle.
Removal of parked vehicles does not in 
itself promote motorists travelling at 
excessive speed, but does remove the 
slow down, give way, accelerate past 
obstructions in favour of the opportunity to 
make normal unhindered progress.

We are required to ensure that the 
highway operates efficiently and safely for 
the large volumes of traffic that use this 
road.

Restrictions proposed at junctions are 
intended to improve identified visibility 
problems reported by some highway 
users.

Page 34



drivers think they have a right to speed all the 
way down to Passmonds.

It would be more cost effective to install 
speed cameras rather than going to the 
expense of re-setting out all the lines 
involved.

I think that provision for on street parking 
should be given priority over cycle lanes 
providing that within that area the speed limit 
is strictly kept to 30mph

I also think that permits should be issued to 
Nos246.248.250.252 and 254 Edenfield 
Road otherwise when we return at the end of 
the day there will be be nowhere to park up.

Regards

Cyclists are another class of highway 
user, and motorists wishing to park have 
no absolute right to do so.

Issuing permits would not solve problems 
of obstruction and forward visibility.

Objector B3                 . 
     . Edenfield Road, Rochdale

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

Tue 21/06/2016

parking restrictions(No waiting at Any 
time restrictions Edenfield road ,Sandy 
Lane to cutgate.

To who it my concern 
 
I would like to rise my objections to the 
proposed parking restrictions that will effect 
parking outside my house at      . Edenfield 
Road I object to this restriction on the 
following that the parking bays on the 
opposite side of the Road would not 
accommodate all the vehicles and for many 
years there was a parking bay outside the 
house. Due to the lack of parking i feel that 
this could cause disputes with neighbours in 
the surrounding streets.            Regards

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

Page 35



APPENDIX C – Objections Received 
Upper Passmonds Grove to Cutgate (south side)

Objector C1                 . 
     . Edenfield Road, Rochdale OL11      .   

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

Thu 09/06/2016
H60/1196

FTAO David Wilcock,

I would like to make an objection to the 
proposed “No Waiting At Any Time” on 
Edenfield Road reference H60/1196.

My family and myself have only moved into 
our property at     . Edenfield Road in 
October 2015 and one of the reasons for 
moving was due to the fact that we would be 
able to park outside our house as we have a 
young child who in now 6 months old. My 
wife requires access to get our child in and 
out of the car at the front of our property as 
she has back problems.

The proposed restrictions on parking would 
have a negative impact on the on the resale 
price of our property if we were ever to sell 
the property.

As our son is only 6 months old we often 
have friends and family visit. The proposed 
restrictions would result in there being 
insufficient parking space for any visitors as 
the on street parking on the opposite side of 
the road is taken up by the residents of the 
other side of the road.

Due to not having access at the rear of the 
house any workmen or deliveries have to 
park up at the front of our property, the 
proposed restrictions would prevent this and 
would prevent us from making any 
improvements to our property. Last year our 
property and our next door neighbour’s 
properties cellars were flooded, any 
restrictions would prevent United Utilities 
gaining accessing to the properties to pump 
out the water.

It is not just concerns for myself but for the 
effect that the proposed traffic restrictions will 
have on others, including local business.

The traffic restrictions will cause residents to 
park on Cuttgate Precinct and in turn the 
parking spaces will soon become full, 

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

There can never be a guarantee that a 
road without restrictions on it will remain 
so.

The desire to park directly outside of 
residential properties conflicts with 
Edenfield Road’s status as a classified 
road and strategic route.

The value of a property cannot include a 
sum for items that the seller has no 
control over such as parking on the Public 
Highway.

The ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restrictions 
proposed do not prevent motorists 
stopping to load/unload or to allow 
passengers to board or alight from a 
vehicle.

Page 36



meaning that shoppers will be unable to park 
and will most probably take their trade 
elsewhere. Any loss in trade will impact on 
the business on Cuttgate Precinct and if any 
of these close it will then cause a loss in 
revenue for Rochdale Council through 
business rates and rental, as I am led to 
believe that the council own the properties at 
Cuttgate Precinct.

When Rochdale Football club are at home, 
both home and away supporters park on 
Edenfield Road where the proposed 
restrictions are planned. If there is nowhere 
to park this could result in drop in attendance 
for the Football Club and a loss in revenue. 
The reduced parking options could again 
have the same effect on Cuttgate Precinct as 
stated above.

The proposed stretch of road is already 
abused by speeding motorists and a 
reduction in parked cars on the road will just 
give cause for the speeding cars to go faster 
without any obstacles, resulting in a danger 
to the public and property. 

Due to the negative impact that these 
restrictions will have, as stated above, I 
cannot envisage the benefits the proposed 
restrictions will have on the people living and 
working in the proposed area and the 
benefits that this will have on the flow of 
traffic through this area.  

I look forward to your positive response and 
hope that all of my concerns are taken in to 
account when a final decision is made.

Regards

At present vehicles are prevented from 
travelling past occasional obstructions 
caused by indiscriminately parked 
vehicles which mean vehicles in opposing 
directions have on occasion to give way, 
particularly if one or both vehicles is large 
such as a bus or goods vehicle.
Removal of parked vehicles does not in 
itself promote motorists travelling at 
excessive speed, but does remove the 
slow down, give way, accelerate past 
obstructions in favour of the opportunity to 
make normal unhindered progress.

Objector C2                 . 
     . Edenfield Road, Rochdale OL11      .   

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

21 June 2016
H60/1196

To whom it may concern

Re: H60/1196 Statement of Intent for 
waiting restrictions on Edenfield Road

I am writing in response to a notice I have 
seen taped to a lamppost near my home.  It 
was in regard to the waiting restrictions and 
changes to road markings and designated 
parking for the stretch of Edenfield Road 
between Sandy Lane and Cutgate.  I followed Page 37



this up on the Council's website and found 
that most of what is being proposed is very 
unnecessary, and that the proper impact of 
implementing these restrictions on this part of 
Edenfield Road had not been properly though 
through from the point of view of residents or 
accounting for the needs of the surrounding 
area.

My main concern are:

 Precautions already put in place by 
Rochdale Council that have improved 
visibility at the junctions on Edenfield 
Road / Amy Street and Cutgate precinct

 The 3 accidents that have happened on 
Edenfield Road in the last 3 years

 Potential parking available to residents 
who do not have off-road parking of their 
own and the increased competition for 
parking spaces on Cutgate precinct

 The potential of cars being parked on 
side streets and increasing competition 
for parking with the residents who 
already make use of these spaces

 The parking needs of Spotland Stadium 
on match days and the role parking 
availability on Edenfield Road plays in 
this

 The likelihood of Cutgate precinct 
becoming a pay and display car park for 
long stay users

I live at      . Edenfield Road, very close to 
Cutgate precinct (                                    .), 
and I have lived here for 15 years.  We are 
lucky to have off-road parking, but we have 
neighbours in the terraced houses nearer to 
the precinct who do not.  For the same 
reasons proposed for H60/1196, bollards 
have already been put outside their front 
doors to stop them from parking near their 
homes and to reduce the risk posed to 
drivers by obscured vision when trying to exit 
Cutgate car park.  This was, I felt at the time, 
a necessary precaution.  One of my 
neighbours owns a large truck as part of his 
business that almost certainly obscured 
rivers' views when exiting the car park.  The 
residents of that stretch of houses now park 
on Cutgate precinct, and the junction is safer 
for it.  The goal of the Council – to make the 
road safer and increase visibility – has been 

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

Most of The Cutgate Shopping Centre car 
park is owned by Rochdale Council.
It is not one of Rochdale’s many managed 
car parks which have controls on and/or 
charges where enforcement is carried out.
Imposing controls such as time limits or 
charges is not something that could be 
implemented quickly and would have to 
be firstly approved as a viable scheme 
and then publicly advertised to invite 
objections before any such changes could 
be made.

Page 38



achieved.  I do not feel there is further need 
to limit the parking for this reason.  

The Statement of Reason mentions at the 
end that one of the concerns of the Council is 
that on the stretch of road in question there 
have been 3 accidents on the stretch of 
Edenfield Road in question in the last 3 
years.  The Statement does not include, 
however, reasoning for how these accidents 
are linked to there being parked cars on the 
road or how they could have been prevented 
if the changes to waiting restrictions, road 
markings or reduced designated parking 
could have prevented them.  The Statement 
also does not go into detail about how these 
changes will prevent future accidents.  To my 
knowledge, these 3 accidents did not occur 
after the installation of the aforementioned 
bollards.  

Edenfield Road is one of the longest and 
busiest roads in Rochdale.  Accidents are 
bound to happen and in all the years I have 
lived here I have never seen or heard of a 
very serious one.  If the parked vehicles on 
the road were the main cause of these 
accidents, the Council should make this clear 
in the first instance.  The lack of detail given 
in the Statement of Intent does not make me 
believe that the safety of the road is 
compromised by the parking on the street.  
Making the statement that there have been 3 
accidents does not give me enough reason to 
believe further measures are required.  

I am sure that when the area itself was 
assessed for changes to road markings and 
wait times the assessors will have noted that 
the side streets (such as Whalley Road, for 
example,) are also full of parked cars at the 
roadside.  If parking is restricted on the main 
road, residents and their guests / visitors will 
likely increase competition for parking on 
these side streets and the residents there will 
be affected in turn.  This will have a negative 
impact on their lives.  It is not easy to live 
without off-road parking, especially with the 
number of cars on the road these days.  
Depending on where the drivers of these cars 
may live or are visiting, they might also being 
trying to cross Edenfield Road.  The nearest 
pelican on this stretch is either at the four 
way junction at the bottom or the pelican near 
Amy Street at the top.  People won't walk this 
distance and will try to cross the road in the 
middle.  There needs to be fewer reasons for 
pedestrians to be crossing the road, not 
more.  People take silly risks when crossing 

Page 39



Edenfield Road – I've lived here for 15 years;  
I see it all the time – and to prevent accidents 
there should either be a new crossing 
installed at the mid-point or parking allowed 
on both sides of the road.  

Drivers may choose, as my neighbours 
mentioned above did, to park at Cutgate 
precinct and increase competition for spaces 
there, too.  They will compete with residents, 
visitors and customers who want to use the 
car park for its purpose – visiting the local 
businesses on the precinct.

Another of my concerns, that I don't think the 
Council has considered, is the parking 
needed to support Spotland Stadium on 
match days.  At times like these, there are 
lots of cars parked all the way up and down 
Edenfield Road and (unless any of the 3 
accidents mentioned happened on a match 
day,) this has not posed a problem to the 
safety of the road.  It's a very wide road, ideal 
for parking space, and we don't really mind it 
as residnts.  The fans that park there have so 
far been rather respectful.  They don't block 
drives, and – admittedly only in my own 
experience – they do not park in such a way 
that prevents wheelchair users passing by.

If the parking is restricted, they will then start 
clogging up the side streets and affecting 
residents who don't have off-road parking.  
They will fill up Cutgate precinct and prevent 
residents and customers from being able to 
park there.  They will fill up the car park at 
Tesco Extra further up and again, cause 
problems with not enough parking for 
customers there.  The lack of parking is 
already a concern with Spotland Stadium as 
the streets and roads around there are all 
coned off on the day or have double yellows 
to prevent parking.  Whenever someone is 
planning a trip, especially if they are driving a 
distance, they will in some way plan their 
parking.  If parking is going to be this much of 
a hassle, they may become more selective 
as to which matches they attend and which 
aren't worth all the stress that comes with 
trying to find a spot somewhere within 
walking distance of the stadium.  This could 
affect the stadium which has no provision to 
expand its parking facilities as far as I am 
aware.

In addition to my concerns above, I am not 
aware of who actually owns Cutgate car park.  
I believe the car park is where the Council is 
thinking everyone will be able to park once 

Page 40



the restrictions are in place, and I am very 
concerned that once it becomes obvious that 
there will be a number of users who have no 
choice but to use the car park for long 
periods the owners will decide to make it like 
the town centre car parks – you can park for 
free for short periods (i.e. to use the shops) 
but if you need to be there for longer, you 
have to pay.  I've heard before that Cutgate 
car park could be going in that direction, and 
with the news that soon it will be the only 
option for many Edenfield Road residents 
and guests to park I am wondering if this is 
all coming together now.  It would become a 
very profitable and exploitable car park in that 
respect, with the added ticket and fine 
income.

If the car park is owned privately and the 
Council cannot guarantee that residents 
won't be charged for being forced to make 
use of it in the future, they cannot make the 
unfair decision to restrict our parking and the 
parking for Spotland Stadium in this way.  I 
am also concerned with the safety of leaving 
cars there overnight.  There is no CCTV, and 
where my house is situated you can hear the 
groups of people that congregate there on 
Fridays and Saturdays (and sometimes 
during the week).  We can hear when they 
are skidding around the car park, trying to do 
donuts, revving their engines and playing 
music as loud as they can.  I would not be 
happy to be a resident having to leave their 
car there overnight, free or not.  I would 
definitely think twice about it as it is not a 
safe place to be at night.

I think that clearway markings for buses 
would be a good idea; I think buses need to 
have better treatment on Edenfield Road.  
However, I am also fed up with the sheer 
volume of roadworks constantly happening 
on Edenfield Road and implementing any 
changes will mean even more.  I understand 
that improvements are ongoing, but they 
need to be better planned so that they all 
happen at once rather than in a constant drip 
or trickle.  Constant roadworks have affected 
the safety and flow of traffic on the road more 
than parked cars with the current bollards 
and restrictions could.  I feel that the waiting 
time proposals and reduction of designated 
parking is going to require a lot of hard work 
and expense for what seems to be little more 
than the convenience of drivers driving down 
the road.  They are the stretch for no more 
than 2 minutes.  We have to live here.

All six bus stops on the section of 
Edenfield Road under consideration in 
this report are proposed for Bus Stop 
clearway restrictions as part of this 
scheme.

Page 41



This is a densely residential area and 
reducing parking is going to devalue our 
properties and make day to day life difficult 
for some of the residents and visitors to the 
area.  I hope that you have considered my 
views carefully and will realise that the plans 
for these waiting restrictions and changes to 
designated parking need to be seriously 
reviewed, and the full impact from the point of 
view of the people who are permanently here 
taken into account.

Yours sincerely

Objector C3                             . for H. Bell & Sons,
33 Princess Street, Rochdale OL12 0HA

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

Fri 17/06/2016
H60/1196

60/1196 Proposed Yellow lines to 
Edenfield Rd, Rochdale

F.A.O David Wilcock – proposed no waiting 
on Edenfield Road

We are writing to object to the proposed 
yellow lines to be marked on Edenfield Rd 
outside the development we are to 
commence at 237 Edenfield Road this 
summer.
As you will see H Bells are a building 
contractor and                             . is part 
owner of the land where we are to 
commence building 2 No.  3 storey properties 
in September providing much needed new 
housing in the borough, and income from the 
council tax. 
The proposed no waiting/parking will make it 
near on impossible for us to complete the 
project preventing the parking of operatives, 
delivery of materials and skips to the project. 
Wagons would be required to enter and 
reverse on an existing narrow driveway with 
the need of an ombudsman causing traffic 
disruption.
We feel strongly this will also cause issues in 
the re-sale of the properties on completion 
and reduce the expected value of the 
properties.  

We await your comment

Kind Regards

                            . 

The ‘no waiting at any time restrictions’ 
proposed do not affect loading or 
unloading from vehicles and therefore 
kerbside deliveries for a construction 
project would not be affected.

The value of a property cannot include a 
sum for items that the seller has no 
control over such as parking on the 
Public Highway.

There can be no guarantee that 
restrictions will not be introduced on any 
highway in the future

Page 42



For H Bell & Sons Ltd

Objector C4                 . 
     . Edenfield Road, Rochdale OL11      .

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

Wed 15/06/2016
H60/1196

.60/1196

For the attention of David Wilcock. re; the 
proposed no waiting on Edenfield Road.

My name is                 ., my wife and I have 
lived at       .  Edenfield Road for the past 46 
years. We would like to strongly object to the 
proposed no waiting on Edenfield Road.

I am now nearly 80 years of age and my wife 
is in her 70s. We  have family who visit 
almost daily to see if we need anything and 
they need to park outside, as their time is 
precious, as is yours.
We also pick up our granddaughter from 
school, and her parents collect her as she is 
an infant.

As we appreciate there is parking across the 
road, but most residents have two cars, One 
has three and another has five, so there is no 
room for any guests or anyone to park.
Some of the residents park outside our 
house which we do not object to. When I 
remove my car off the drive so that my wife 
can go out I have to leave my car on the 
road.
She needs her car as she is not good in 
health, neither am I.

When Rochdale Football Club play at home 
the fans park outside our house which we 
also do not object to. The nearest place will 
be Cutgate Precinct, as will all guests have to 
go to park.
That will reduce the fans which visit 
Rochdale, this will result in lack of revenue 

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

The desire to park directly outside of 
residential properties conflicts with 
Edenfield Road’s status as a classified 
road and strategic route.

At present vehicles are prevented from 
travelling past occasional obstructions 
caused by indiscriminately parked 
vehicles which mean vehicles in opposing 
directions have on occasion to give way, 
particularly if one or both vehicles is large 
such as a bus or goods vehicle.
Removal of parked vehicles does not in 
itself promote motorists travelling at 
excessive speed, but does remove the 
slow down, give way, accelerate past 
obstructions in favour of the opportunity to 
make normal unhindered progress.

Page 43



for Rochdale. I am sure you will agree 
Rochdale is in the news enough.

We have not seen any major accidents 
outside our house, the only ones seem tobe 
at Amy Street crossing. Having cars parked 
outside our house seems to slow the traffic 
down, this seems to cause less accidents.

At weekends when the road is quieter cars 
speed at well over the 30 mph limit, In fact it 
is at least 50mph. as there are no speed 
cameras, children crossing the road to school 
will be more vulnerable.

Due to the negative impact on these 
restriction, I cannot see the benefits of these 
restriction, also it will reduce the value of the 
property.

I look forward to your response and hope you 
will take on board our concerns.

Regards

Page 44



APPENDIX D – Objections Received 
North side

Objector D1                 . 
     . Edenfield Road, Rochdale

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

12.06.2016      REF: H60/1196

Dear Sir/Madam.

The Parking Restrictions which you are 
proposing to implement on Edenfield Road. I 
am a resident residing at      ..

I feel very strongly in these proposals and 
would like to lodge my complaint. My reasons 
are, if these are implemented the parking and 
flow of traffic will only escalate. Where would 
we park legally, our family and friends when 
visiting would be unable to park. On football 
match days it will be catastrophe.

Where there may be less parking restrictions 
would it be better to issue parking permits for 
residents, one permit per household. One 
household has four vehicles and expects to 
park all these outside or near his property. 
An other neighbour is parking vehicles and 
using the area for selling vehicles.

We have lived at our present address for 
over 37 years, and if these restrictions come 
into force, where are we and everyone else 
going to park.

The speed of traffic is unacceptable, and will 
only increase, after 20.00 hours many 
vehicles are using it as a race track, with 
speeds inexcess of 60 mph.

We have as residents have enquired to 
yourselves and the police to have speed 
cameras installed, before a fatality occurs.

I strongly object to these proposals being 
passed and implemented, as it will only 
cause severe stress and anxiety, my wife 
could do without as she suffers from vascular 
dementia.

Hoping you take these comments and 
proposals seriously.

Yours faithfully

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

Established marked out parking bays on 
Edenfield Road are being shortened in 
some but not all cases to provide junction 
visibility for motorists on the main road 
together with side streets.

At present vehicles are prevented from 
travelling past occasional obstructions 
caused by indiscriminately parked 
vehicles which mean vehicles in opposing 
directions have on occasion to give way, 
particularly if one or both vehicles is large 
such as a bus or goods vehicle.
Removal of parked vehicles does not in 
itself promote motorists travelling at 
excessive speed, but does remove the 
slow down, give way, accelerate past 
obstructions in favour of the opportunity to 
make normal unhindered progress.

Page 45



Objector D2                 . 
Local resident

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Response of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods

Mon 20/06/2016

Appeal of double yellow lines on 
Edenfield Road

To Whom it may concern,

Re. REF H60/1196

As a local resident, I would like to appeal the 
plans to put double yellow lines on Edenfield 
Road.
My personal feelings are that parking for 
local residents is already very difficult. I 
personally have a 6 month old baby and as i 
appreciate i don't have designated parking, it 
is becoming increasingly difficult to park 
close to my house.
Double yellow lines would put extra pressure 
on local residents.
A greater concern of mine as a parent is the 
speed of the traffic on Edenfield road and I 
feel for the local council, speed management 
should be taking priority.
Another solution could be permit holder 
parking in the area which would aid and limit 
local parking for residents only.
There is also an area of land of Bailden road 
which is currently under managed and 
wasted.
At least an extra 6 car spaces could be 
created here to aide the ever increasing road 
parking.

I hope you take my concerns and possible 
alternatives into consideration when making 
the decision. Rather than considering the 
revenue that double yellow lines could gather 
please appreciate the parking of your local 
residents.

Kind regards

The only right the general public including 
residents has on the highway is a right of 
passage along it.

At present vehicles are prevented from 
travelling past occasional obstructions 
caused by indiscriminately parked 
vehicles which mean vehicles in opposing 
directions have on occasion to give way, 
particularly if one or both vehicles is large 
such as a bus or goods vehicle.
Removal of parked vehicles does not in 
itself promote motorists travelling at 
excessive speed, but does remove the 
slow down, give way, accelerate past 
obstructions in favour of the opportunity to 
make normal unhindered progress.

Revenue potentially generated from 
additional lengths of restrictions has not 
been considered.

Page 46



APPENDIX E – Scheme supporters’ comments

A selection of comments from four scheme supporters

 there are some parking spaces on Edenfield Road opposite Phyllis Street which 
makes it very difficult and dangerous when turning out of Phyllis Street and when 
someone parks on the diagonal lines at the end of the parking spaces, it makes it 
even more difficult and dangerous.

 ….how I can deter nuisance drivers from blocking access to our driveway? On an 
almost daily basis, drivers are blocking access to our driveway making entrance 
and exit to our property dangerous or impossible (the driveway is in the middle of a 
major road junction……….). I would be interested in looking at either double-
yellow lines (no-one should be parking in the area in question for any reason as it 
is simply dangerous to do so!)……..

 I'd like to voice my approval of the scheme. I'm a resident of Baildon Road and I 
struggle each and every day to join Edenfield road, visibility of the oncoming traffic 
is appalling.

 A user of Passmonds Crescent commented in a phone conversation that they 
supported the proposals to protect its junction at Edenfield Road with restrictions.

Page 47



APPENDIX 

Equality Impact Assessment

 

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below

Objections to a 
proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order

Service:

Economy & Environment

Section:

Network Management

Responsible Officer:

Paul Wotton 01706 924593

(paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk)

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

Consideration of objections to a proposed Traffic Regulation 
Order – Edenfield Road, Rochdale – Sandy Lane to Cutgate.                       
(Spotland & Falinge Ward).

Date of Assessment:     15 February 2017

Officers Involved:     Paul Wotton (paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk)

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project)

The purpose of the proposed Traffic Regulation Order is to introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on 
parts of Edenfield Road and some of its side streets, together with some bus stop clearways.

The scheme proposals are intended to prevent parked vehicles obstructing the free passage of traffic, 
obstructing the junctions with side roads, reduce instances of footway parking, improve junction visibility and 
highway safety.

2.Who are the key stakeholders?

Rochdale Township Action & Resources Delegated sub-Committee who have commissioned the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order.

Page 48



3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment.  

Strengthening restrictions in the area described in Section 1 above.

4.Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

To improve

 traffic flow
 traffic circulation at the junctions
 the pedestrian’s ease of use of footways by reducing instances of vehicles which may presently park on 

footways
 access for all to public transport by implementing bus stop clearways
 reducing the number of instances where vehicles park in cycle lanes 
 highway safety by improving visibility at junctions

To meet the aspirations of Rochdale Township Action & Resources Delegated sub-Committee.

5.Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

No.

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

Vehicular users of the highway

Pedestrian users of the highway

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

Rochdale Township Action & Resources Delegated sub-Committee as scheme promoter.

Traffic Management Unit’s members as statutory consultees.

The public in respect of the statutory process to advertise the traffic order proposal, some of whom have chosen to 
make the objections that are now under consideration.

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

Have followed usual required process much of which is statutory to promote a Traffic Regulation Order.

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

None.

10.What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts.

Page 49



Race Equality 

None.

Disabled People

Some of the objectors mention disability issues.

Disabled and all other pedestrians may benefit from the ability to cross roads more easily by removal of 
some parked vehicles from the kerbside, and a reduction in possible instances of vehicles being parked on 
the footway.

Blue ‘disabled’ badge holders may park on the proposed restrictions for up to 3 hours. There are no 
proposals to restrict loading which would have prevented this.

There will be no restriction upon any motorist stopping on the proposed restrictions to allow a passenger to 
board or alight from a vehicle except at the bus stop clearways which are of relatively short length.

As far as the writer is aware there are no resident disabled badge holders directly affected by this proposal.

Carers

See disabled people above.

Gender

None.

Age

The proposed restrictions could affect those with age related disabilities.

Disabled and all other pedestrians may benefit from the ability to cross roads more easily by removal of 
some parked vehicles from the kerbside, and a reduction in possible instances of vehicles being parked on 
the footway.

Blue ‘disabled’ badge holders may park on the proposed restrictions for up to 3 hours.

There will be no restriction upon any motorist stopping on the proposed restrictions to allow a passenger to 
board or alight from a vehicle.

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

None.

Sexual Orientation

None.

Gender Reassignment

None.

Religion or Belief

None.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave

Page 50



None.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

None.

11.What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

Sole affected group is disabled persons.

12.What are your recommendations?

To mitigate the potential impact on disabled people in preparing this scheme

 loading is not restricted as part of this scheme which would otherwise have prevented parking by 
disabled motorists.

 therefore disabled motorists are allowed to make use of their ‘up to 3 hours’ concessions.
13.What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.

The proposed Traffic Regulation Order does include the recommendations contained in section 12 above.

Signed (Completing Officer):       Paul Wotton Date:   15th February 2017.

Signed (Head of Service):      _______________ Date:   _____________

Page 51



Report to Cabinet 

Date of Meeting 29th August 207
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Housing & Environment
Report Author Paul Harris / Janet 

Butterworth
Public/Private Document Public

Playing Pitch Strategy

Executive Summary

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

The Rochdale Playing Pitch Strategy assesses current and future demand for 
formal sports pitches in the borough over the 10 year period from 2016 to 
2026. It provides a framework for resource prioritisation and informed planning 
decisions.  It is a living document that will be reviewed on an annual basis to 
keep pace with the changing sports landscape in the borough. 

The Strategy has been developed through consultation with Sport England, 
the pitch sport National Governing Bodies, sports clubs, league associations, 
schools and colleges.  It has been informed through a review of the borough’s 
sports pitches and ancillary facilities.

The Strategy is set in the context of the Council’s community strategy and 
corporate plan and has close links with the Asset Strategy and the Local Plan.  
It recognises the important contribution made by sport in the local economy 
and in delivering corporate objectives.

The key aims of the strategy are
 an up to date audit and review of all the formal pitch sport assets in the 

borough including those managed by others
 A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches 

(including ancillary facilities).
 A series of recommendations which provide a strategic framework for 

the improvement, maintenance and development of the playing pitch 
stock.

 A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a framework 
for sport led improvements to provision.

 A prioritised area-by-area action plan (where action is deemed 
necessary).

 A sound evidence base to support planning policy and decisions

The strategy focuses on the main pitch sports of cricket, football, hockey, 
lacrosse, rounders, rugby league and rugby union.  It covers all pitches in the 
borough not just those owned by the council. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



1.5

Overall the findings suggest that the borough currently has:
 Shortfalls of junior football provision and moderate spare capacity of 

adult and mini football pitches
 Shortfalls of cricket provision
 Rugby Union pitches are being played to capacity
 Rugby League pitches are being played to capacity
 Hockey pitches are being played to capacity
 Lacrosse pitches are being played to capacity
 Rounders pitches are being played to capacity
 There is a shortfall of 1 3G Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) to meet current 

training demand

The strategy proposes a sports hub in each township area – these hubs are at 
Heywood Sports Village, Bowlee Playing Fields, Littleborough Sports Centre 
and Firgrove.  

Recommendation

2.1

2.2

To consider and review the draft Playing Pitch Strategy.

Following consultation the final sign off of the strategy be delegated to the 
Director of Neighbourhoods in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and the Environment.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Strategy will allow the council to move forward with its management of 
sports pitches in the borough.  It sets out a clear framework and action plan for 
improvement and investment in facilities across the borough. It will allow the 
council to collect contributions from developers towards formal sports 
provision for the borough.  It will open up opportunities for clubs to apply for 
external funding to support their growth and development aspirations. 

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

An adopted Playing Pitch Strategy is recommended best practice.  
The Strategy has been produced in accordance with the Sport England 
Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance.  Sport England and the pitch sport governing 
bodies have worked closely with the council in the development of the strategy 
and given their approval to this final version.

The assessment shows there are no surpluses of pitch provision and that 
some currently unused sites may be required to be brought back into use to 
meet future demand.

The strategy proposes a sports hub in each township area – these hubs are at 
Heywood Sports Village, Bowlee Playing Fields, Littleborough Sports Centre 
and Firgrove.  

Where these hubs don’t currently offer the full range of sports and facilities it is 

Page 53



4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

proposed that they are supported by key school sites to supplement the offer. 

A hierarchy of sites is proposed to help channel resources and investment.

The draft Playing Pitch Strategy was approved by Cabinet for consultation in 
October 2016.  The response to the consultation from the public was limited 
but some strong feelings were expressed through the Township committees. 
Sport England, the FA and other pitch sport governing bodies also made 
comments. 

These views have been considered and changes have been made to the 
strategy as a result. Sport England has reviewed the figures for population 
growth in the borough and has reviewed the capacity available at key sites, 
which has brought down the potential spare capacity in the borough and has 
highlighted a potential future shortfall of junior pitches in the borough.
The FA has reviewed the proposals regarding artificial pitches in line with its 
own revised strategy and has suggested that a further full sized AGP is 
required to meet training needs.

The revisions have not affected the overall direction of the strategy.  The aims 
of the strategy align with Sport England’s aims to PROTECT playing pitches 
for formal sports; to ENHANCE facilities where this is needed to meet the 
needs of a particular sport or club or to increase capacity to meet demand; 
and to PROVIDE facilities where they do not currently exist.

The amended strategy shows how these issues will be addressed and how 
resources will be prioritised in accordance with the hierarchy of sites.
The amended draft strategy and action plan is attached as Appendix 1.

There are still some issues outstanding with Sport England but these are 
matters of detail and will not affect the overall direction and objectives of the 
strategy.  The strategy cannot be fully finalised until it has been signed off by 
Sport England and the pitch sport governing bodies.

Alternatives Considered
The council could not adopt a Playing Pitch Strategy.  This would make it 
difficult for the council to seek developer contributions and for local clubs to 

Page 54



seek funding support from Sport England and other funding bodies.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. There are no direct cost or budget implications associated with the adoption of 
the strategy.

A number of sites within the borough require improvements and investment.  
The extent of this investment has not been quantified at this stage.  This work 
will be funded as much as possible from S106 contributions and external 
sources.

Risk and Policy Implications

There is a risk that without an adopted strategy the council would not be able 
to collect developer contributions (S106)
There is a risk that without an adopted strategy Sport England and the Sports 
Governing bodies will not consider applications for external funding from the 
council or from any sports club in the borough.
The Playing Pitch Strategy provides an important evidence base to support 
relevant policies within the recently adopted Local Plan as well as 
subsequent policies within the emerging Allocations Development Plan 
Document.  These policies are used in planning decisions and therefore it is 
important that they are underpinned by an up to date assessment of need.

6.

Consultation

7. Consultation with the township committees took place in October 2016
Consultation with the public took place from the end of October 2016 until 
January 2017
Consultation on this report has taken place with Equalities, Finance and 
Legal.  Their comments have been incorporated in the report text

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Assessment Report 2016 Estates and Assets, N1R

For Further Information Contact: Paul Harris, Tel: 01706 923269, 
paul.harris@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 55



Rochdale Borough Council

Playing Pitch Strategy 2016-2026

Page 56



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 2

Document Control

Rochdale Borough Council Playing Pitch Strategy 2016-2026

Summary

Publication Date September 2016

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation n/a

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents

Rochdale Borough Council Asset Strategy
Adopted Core Strategy
Sport England Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance

Replaces n/a

Joint Strategy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint
Strategy Owner 
(Name/Position) Mark Widdup, Director of Neighbourhoods

Strategy Author 
(Name/Position)

Janet Butterworth, Property Strategy Officer
Paul Harris, Project Manager
Nick Barton, Principal Project Manager

Applies to All formal outdoor playing pitch facilities within 
Rochdale Borough

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date n/a

Review undertaken by

Next Review Date January 2018

Document Approvals

This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version 
Number

Strategic Asset 
Management Group

Playing Pitch Strategy Steering 
Group

21st September 
2016 Draft

Page 57



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 3

Name Title Date of Issue Version 
Number

Strategic Asset 
Management Group

Playing Pitch Strategy Steering 
Group 26th July 2017 Final Draft

Councillor Emmott Cabinet Member for Housing 
and the Environment

Cabinet 29th August 
2017

Richard Fordham/Fiona 
Pudge Sport England

Alice Watson /  Shaun 
Burke The Football Association

Carol Doran / John Mc 
Mullen Rugby Football League

Tom Bartram / George 
Glen Rugby Union

Julie Longden England Hockey
Dan Musson/ Fiona 
Prescott England Cricket Board

Bobby Denning Lancashire Cricket Board

Page 58



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 4

FOREWORD

Rochdale Council is proud of the sporting 
traditions in the borough.  As a council we 
have invested heavily in new sports 
facilities with a new Sports centres at 
Middleton, Rochdale and Heywood.  
Through the Building Schools for the 
Future capital investment programme we 
have developed new facilities at many of 
our secondary schools.     We are keen to 
ensure our communities and residents get 
maximum use and benefit from these 
facilities.

I would like to pay tribute to the 
thousands of people who take part in 
sports activities every week and in 
particular to the volunteers, parents and 
coaches who make sure our young people 
have this opportunity. Rochdale strongly 
recognises the importance of team sports 
across the borough, not only for the 
health and well-being of its communities, 
families and individuals but also in 
recognition of the vast volunteering 
contribution sports clubs and teams 
make.  

We want to improve our sporting offer 
but are mindful that we have to do this in 
a way that remains sustainable for the 
long term.  Rochdale, like most councils,  
has had to meet government efficiency 
savings therefore we have had to take 
tough decisions to rationalise our services 
and assets.

Sport England estimates the wider 
economic value of volunteering to the 
borough is £27.4 million added to 1392 
jobs and a direct sporting economic value 
of £55.3 million.   I am very pleased to 
report that this strategy fits succinctly 
with the councils’ corporate priorities for 

the borough’s prosperity, people and 
place making.

As champion of the strategy it is of great 
importance to me that we ensure that 
clubs, teams and participation is sustained 
and that through the invaluable role 
sports clubs and teams play we can 
encourage greater numbers of our 
residents to become active and benefit 
from team participation.

I was very pleased to learn that none of 
our community clubs have been displaced 
out of the borough and I am keen that this 
should remain the case for the duration of 
the strategy and beyond.

Our ambition is to ensure those who want 
to participate in sports can easily access 
sports fairly and in an affordable way.  We 
are seeking a sustainable sporting offer 
for Rochdale. 

Councillor Neil Emmott

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Environment

Page 59

http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=289


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 5

Contents
Rochdale Borough Council ...................................................................................................1
Playing Pitch Strategy 2016-2026........................................................................................1
Document Control.....................................................................................................................2
FOREWORD ...............................................................................................................................4
Executive Summary...................................................................................................................7
PART 1: Introduction .................................................................................................................9

Structure................................................................................................................................9
Context ................................................................................................................................10
Vision...................................................................................................................................13

PART 2: Aims ...........................................................................................................................15
PART 3: Sport Specific Issues Scenarios and Recommendations ............................................16

Football pitches – Grass ......................................................................................................16
Artificial Grass Pitches .........................................................................................................17
Cricket pitches .....................................................................................................................21
Rugby Football Union ..........................................................................................................22
Rugby league pitches...........................................................................................................23
Hockey pitches (AGPs).........................................................................................................23
Lacrosse ...............................................................................................................................24
Rounders .............................................................................................................................24
Bowling greens ....................................................................................................................24

PART 4: Strategic Recommendations......................................................................................25
Recommendation a – Protect playing field sites through local planning policy..................25

PART 5: ACTION PLAN .............................................................................................................42
Introduction.........................................................................................................................42
Action plan ..........................................................................................................................42

ROCHDALE (BOROUGH) SUMMARY........................................................................................44
Heywood Summary – Sub Area A........................................................................................48
Middleton Summary Sub Area B .........................................................................................53
Pennines Summary – Area C ...............................................................................................58
Rochdale Summary – Area D ...............................................................................................63

Page 60



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 6

Executive Summary
The Rochdale Playing Pitch Strategy has been developed following best practice guidance 
from Sport England. It assesses current and future demand for formal sports pitches in the 
borough over the 10 year period from 2016 to 2026. It provides a framework for resource 
prioritisation and informed planning decisions.  It will be a living document that will be 
reviewed on an annual basis to keep pace with the changing sports landscape in the 
borough.

The Strategy has been developed through consultation with Sport England, the pitch sport 
National Governing Bodies , sports clubs, league associations, schools and colleges.  It has 
been informed through a review of the borough’s sports pitches and ancillary facilities.

The Strategy is set in the context of the Council’s community strategy and corporate plan 
and has close links with the Asset Strategy and Local Development Framework.  It 
recognises the important contribution made by sport in the local economy and in delivering 
corporate objectives.

The key aims of the strategy are
 an up to date audit and review of all the outdoor sports assets and outdoor facilities 

including those managed by others
 A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches (including 

ancillary facilities).
 A series of recommendations which provide a strategic framework for the 

improvement, maintenance and development of the playing pitch stock.
 A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a framework for sport led 

improvements to provision.
 A prioritised area-by-area action plan (where action is deemed necessary).

The strategy focuses on the main pitch sports of cricket, football, hockey, lacrosse, rounders, 
rugby league and rugby union.  It covers all pitches in the borough not just those owned by 
the council. 

In total over 300 pitches have been reviewed and assessed and consultation has been 
undertaken with over 500 playing teams, education establishments, leagues and governing 
bodies.

Overall the findings suggest that the borough currently has:
 Shortfalls of junior football provision and moderate spare capacity of adult and mini 

football pitches
 Shortfalls of cricket provision
 Rugby Union pitches are being played to capacity
 Rugby League pitches are being played to capacity
 Hockey pitches are being played to capacity
 Lacrosse pitches are being played to capacity
 Rounders pitches are being played to capacity
 There is a shortfall of 1 3G Artificial Grass Pitch to meet current training demand

The assessment shows there are no surpluses of pitch provision and that some currently 
unused sites may be required to be brought back into use to meet future demand. 

Page 61



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 7

Where sites are deemed to be inappropriately located or unsustainable these will need to be 
replaced in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 74 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy1 and the Council’s Core Strategy.

The strategy proposes a sports hub in each township area – these hubs are at Heywood 
Sports Village, Bowlee Playing Fields, Littleborough Sports Centre and Firgrove.  

Where these hubs don’t currently offer the full range of sports and facilities it is proposed 
that they are supported by key school sites to supplement the offer. 

A hierarchy of sites is proposed to help channel resources and investment.

Strategy Recommendations
1. Protect all existing pitches and ancillary facilities through local planning policy
2. Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, development minded clubs 

through a range of solutions and partnership agreements
3. Maximise community use of outdoor sports facilities where there is a need to 

do so
4. Improve pitch quality
5. Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) for the management and 

improvement of sites
6. Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure funding
7. Rectify quantitative shortfalls in the current pitch stock
8. Identify opportunities to add to the overall pitch stock to accommodate both 

current and future demand

The strategy contains a detailed action plan that shows what work and investment is needed 
on a site by site basis.

1 Sport England is a statutory consultee on all planning applications that result in the loss, or prejudice the use of playing fields
Page 62



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 8

PART 1: Introduction

This is the Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) for Rochdale. Building upon the preceding 
Assessment Report, it provides a clear, strategic framework for the protection, 
maintenance and improvement of existing outdoor sports pitches and ancillary facilities. 
The purpose of the PPS is to help us to prioritise and target resources where resources 
are limited. The PPS is a rolling document which will be annually refreshed to ensure it 
maintains a robust and up to date evidence base and can respond to changes in 
demand and supply quickly.

The PPS covers the following playing pitches and outdoor pitch sports:

Football pitches (grass and third generation turf (3G))
Cricket pitches
Rugby union pitches
Rugby league pitches
Hockey pitches (artificial grass pitches (AGPs)) 
Lacrosse pitches
Rounders pitches

The study area is the borough of Rochdale.  Sub areas have been created around the 
existing 4 townships to allow a more localised analysis of provision. The four Township 
areas are

Heywood Area A
Middleton Area B
Pennines Area C
Rochdale  Area D

The Strategy is capable of:
Providing adequate planning guidance to assess development proposals affecting 
playing fields, as appropriate, directing open space contributions secured through 
development and informing and shaping local planning policy 

Inform the protection, enhancement and provision of outdoor pitches an associated 
ancillary facilities 

Inform the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, S106 contributions and CIL schedules.

Informing land use decisions in respect of future use of existing outdoor sports areas and 
playing fields (capable of accommodating pitches) across the Borough;
Providing a strategic framework for the provision and management of pitch sports across 
the Borough;
Supporting external funding bids and maximise support for pitch sports facilities;
Providing the basis for on-going monitoring and review of the use, distribution, function, 
quality and accessibility of outdoor sport.

Structure
The Strategy has been developed from research and analysis of playing pitch provision and 
usage within Rochdale to provide:

Page 63



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 9

A vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitches (including 
ancillary facilities).
A series of recommendations which provide a strategic framework for the 
improvement, maintenance and development of the playing pitch stock.
A series of sport by sport recommendations which provide a framework for sport led 
improvements to provision.
A prioritised area-by-area action plan (where action is deemed necessary).

The Strategy and Action Plan recommends a number of priority projects for Rochdale, which 
should be implemented from 2016 to 2028. It is outlined to provide a framework for 
improvement and, although resources may not currently be in place to implement it, potential 
partners and possible sources of external funding will be identified. The Action Plan will be 
reviewed and updated annually to ensure the actions remain relevant and new unforeseen 
projects can come forward.

The recommendations that come out of this strategy will inform local planning policy and will 
support the local planning evidence base so there is a policy mechanism to support delivery 
and secure provision/investment where the opportunity arises.

There is a need to build key partnerships between the Council, National Governing Bodies of 
Sport (NGBs), Sport England, schools, further education providers, community clubs and 
private landowners to maintain and improve playing pitch provision. In these instances, the 
potential for the Council to take a strategic lead is more limited (except in terms of Section 
106 Agreements/future Community Infrastructure Levy). This document will provide clarity 
about the way forward, and allow key organisations to focus on the key issues that they can 
directly influence and achieve. 

Context 
This strategy sits within the context of the council’s corporate plan and Asset Management 
Strategy. An internal strategic steering group was already in existence and has been utilised 
to develop this brief, monitor the production of the strategy and oversee its implementation. 
The rationale for the strategy will help to deliver on the broader agenda to increase 
participation in sport and physical activity, which is critical to improving health and wellbeing 
outcomes. The need to address significant health and wellbeing issues is acknowledged in 
the Rochdale Plan in order to ensure there is an active population able to make the most of 
job opportunities and able to play a positive role in social and civic life. In addition:

To help deliver the health agenda 
To inform the investment strategy for Rochdale Council  initiatives
To inform local planning policy, planning decisions and potential developer 
contributions
To inform sports development initiatives
To reflect and inform wider Rochdale Council strategic asset and service reviews
To help facilitate community use of outdoor facilities on education sites

Over half of the adult population in Rochdale borough take less than the recommended 
amount of physical activity per week.  Some people are active and take part in sport on a 
regular basis and there is extensive provision of grass and artificial pitches to cater for their 
needs.  This document sets out our plans and proposals for formal sports pitches in the 
borough.  The proposals are set in the context of national and local policy but we have had 
to make a number of assumptions as there is currently no adopted vision or strategy for 
physical activity in the borough.

Page 64



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 10

Government policy and public health strategy for a number of years have highlighted the 
benefits of physical activity.  Public Health England advises that physical activity is the 4th 
highest cause of premature mortality in the UK and costs the economy some £7.4bn.

In Rochdale over half the population take less than the recommended amount of physical 
activity.  35.9% of adults are inactive compared with the national average of 27.7%.  129 
deaths per year could be prevented through simply being more active.  Inactivity costs the 
Rochdale economy £4.5 million.

A Playing Pitch Strategy alone will not solve these problems but it is a start and highlights 
the opportunities available and the contribution the provision of formal sports facilities can 
make towards delivering the council’s corporate objectives.  At present the council has not 
developed any strategies in this respect. 

The vision for the borough is to become a prosperous borough to grow our economy and 
develop our place through co-operation and partnership improving the lives of local people.
Sport and physical activity can contribute to the delivery of this vision

PEOPLE

we will promote healthy 
safe and happy lives 

through prevention and 
personalisation of care 

growing self esteem 
confidence and 
responsibility

being more active 
everyday increases 
quality of life and 

increases chances of 
leading a healthy and 

independent life

PLACE 

we will create high 
quality places where 
people choose to be

quality and quantity of 
parks and recreational 

spaces encourages people 
to be more active.  The 

right facilities are needed 
in the right place

PROSPERITY

we will grow 
enterprise ambition 

and the skills for 
success

there are 55 sports businesses in 
Rochdale with a turnover of over 
£40million and employing 2.1% of 

the population.  
Volunteering is fundamental to 

sport but this can provide 
individuals with the skills needed to 

find paid work or enhance career 
prospects

The aim of central government’s policy ‘Towards a Sporting Future’ is ‘to harness the power 
of sport to change people’s lives for the better’

The focus of the this Playing Pitch Strategy will be on PLACE – it looks at the facilities 
available for sport and physical activity in the borough and sets out what actions are needed 
to PROTECT playing pitch provision regardless of ownership and community use of such 
facilities for current and future use.  It will look at what opportunities exist to ENHANCE the 
provision to ensure better quality access and better management of the facilities.  We will 
also examine what we need to PROVIDE in terms of additional facilities to cater for unmet 
demand or to provide opportunities for increase participation in key locations amongst hard 
to reach groups.

Sport England’s Vision states “we want everyone in England regardless of age background 
or level of ability to feel able to engage in sport and physical activity some will be young fit 

Page 65



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 11

and talented but most will not.  We need a sports sector that welcomes everyone meets their 
needs treats them as individuals and values them as customers.”

Rochdale Council shares this aspiration and sets outs this strategy as its first steps on this 
journey.

Since the original brief for this project was first approved the Government and Sport England 
have both issued new strategies for sport.  The Governments strategy ‘Sporting Future: A 
New Strategy for an Active Nation’ was published in December 2015 and follows Public 
Health England’s publication ‘Everybody Active Everyday’.  It represents the biggest shift in 
policy on sport in a decade and is focused on getting people active rather than on elite 
sports.  It recognises that Sport is a key part of local communities and the key role that local 
authorities have in understanding these communities, recognising opportunities and 
encouraging participation.  It also highlights the key role that high quality multi use green 
spaces can have as sporting venues and as alternative settings for sport and healthy activity 
for communities including new audiences that are less likely to use traditional sports centres.  
It identifies a number of partners and linked strategies that the council should seek to work 
with to deliver its objectives.  These include

Health and Well Being Strategy In place in 
Rochdale but 
needs to be 
refreshed

Public Health 

Physical Activity and Sports Strategy Not in place

County Sports 
Partnerships

County Sports Partnerships (CSPs) are committed 
to Improving Lives by Growing Grassroots Sport 
and Physical Activity. We do this by providing a 
range of high quality services and delivering or 
commissioning customer-led solutions in 
collaboration with a wide range of partners, which 
ultimately results in National Reach and Local 
Impact.

Greater Sport

Sport England Government agency tasked with getting more 
people involved in sport and physical activity

Range of 
programmes 
materials and 
resources
Local government 
liaison officer

National Sports 
Governing 
Bodies
School Sports / 
Games 
Partnerships

Established in order to increase the number of 
children and young people taking part in high 
quality Physical Education, School Sport & 
Physical Activity, whilst working to ensure these 
experiences are innovative, high quality and 
engaging.

Based at Cardinal 
Langley High 
School.  Currently 
working with 46 
local schools

Sport and 
Physical Activity 
Alliances / 

A key element in sports delivery network.  Sports 
and Physical Activity Alliances try to get sports 
and physical activity in the local area agreement 

These links need 
to be further 
developed in 

Page 66

http://www.cspnetwork.org/your-csp
http://www.cspnetwork.org/services/core-services
http://www.cspnetwork.org/services/programmes
http://www.cspnetwork.org/services/sectors
http://www.cspnetwork.org/impact


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 12

Community 
Sports Networks

and local public service agreements.  Links closely 
with the CSP

Rochdale

Sport England’s Strategy ‘Towards an Active Nation’ picks up on the change in policy 
direction of ‘Sporting Nation’.  Its focus over the next 5 years will be to increase activity and 
participation in sports and physical activity.  The way it works and what it funds will change 
significantly.  An overview of the Strategy is set out below.  

The focus of a Playing Pitch Strategy is mainly on facilities.  Sport England states that where 
people play sports matters.  Building the right thing in the right place makes taking part in 
sport and physical activity a realistic option for many and a leads to a better experience for 
those who are already engaged.  The Customer will be at the heart of new facilities planning 
and funding – understanding what the community needs and wants and making sure 
facilities work together, not just an individual building or an individual sport.  Multi-sport 
facilities will be favoured for major investment and investment in smaller facilities will change 
– Inspired Facilities funding will be replaced with a new community asset fund to include 
helping communities take ownership of local assets.  Every investment programme will be 
underpinned by 3 clear elements and the remit for projects will not just be sport but also 
physical activity.

 Clear Objectives
 Excellent insight
 Thorough evaluation

The clear messages from the government and Sport England are that people need to be 
more active – this is the focus of their strategies and where funding will be directed.

We have tried to reflect this change in direction in our recommendations and actions in this 
Playing Pitch Strategy.  We have looked at our existing stock of facilities and consulted with 
those who supply and use them. 

Vision
This study has been developed on the basis of the above strategic drivers in order to ensure 
that it reflects the Council’s wider ambitions. A vision has been set out to provide a clear 
focus with desired outcomes for the Rochdale Playing Pitch Strategy:

“To ensure that sufficient pitches are provided of a good quality and which support the 
needs of each sport and club in Rochdale. This provision should be sufficient and flexible 
to deal with current and projected increases in demand”

Page 67



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 13

P
age 68



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 14

PART 2: Aims
It is recommended that the following Strategy Aims are adopted by the Council and its 
partners to enable it to achieve the overall vision of the Strategy:  

The three main themes of the strategy also reflect Sport England’s planning aim and 
objectives for sport; namely:

Figure 1: Sport England Planning for Sport objectives

AIM 1
To protect the existing supply of sports facilities where it is needed for meeting current or 
future needs

AIM 2
To enhance outdoor sports facilities through improving quality and management of sites

AIM 3
To provide new outdoor sports facilities where there is current or future demand to do so

Page 69



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 15

PART 3: Sport Specific Issues Scenarios and 
Recommendations

In order to help develop the recommendations/actions and to understand their potential 
impact a number of relevant scenario questions are tested against the key issues in this 
section for the playing pitch sports resulting in the sport specific recommendations.

Football pitches – Grass

Key Issues
Although the overall picture for football is one of spare capacity across all pitch types, 
the spare capacity is across a large number of pitches.  There are only 20 pitches 
that are not being used at all and they are all on existing sites where other pitches 
are in use. 
Football has the highest number of pitches and the greatest participation of any pitch 
based sport in the borough. 
116 pitches on 39 sites. 
Most pitches are rated as standard or good.  Only 5 pitches were rated as poor.
83% of pitches are secured for community use.
12 lapsed and disused sites.
8 sites with 9 pitches  are over played.
There are sufficient adult and mini pitches boroughwide to meet current and future 
demand to 2028 but insufficient junior pitches to meet current and future demand.

Scenarios – Grass
At the 9 pitches where there is over play the pitches are rated as standard.  Current overplay 
equates to 24 match equivalent sessions. Improving quality to good would increase capacity 
by 9 match equivalent sessions reducing the deficit to 15 match equivalent sessions per 
week. It is clear improving quality alone will not address the issue of overplay.

At the sites where there is over play this is mainly related to the format of the game being 
played on the incorrect size of pitch, i.e.  youth football being played on an adult football 
pitch.  Over marking pitches increases the amount of play and therefore exacerbates the 
overplay. If adult pitches with spare capacity were to be remarked as youth pitches this 
would alleviate the overplay by 19 match equivalent sessions, theoretically putting youth 
football into a position of spare capacity equating to 4 match equivalent sessions.  However, 
work would need to be undertaken to make sure the converted adult pitches are in the right 
location and are accessible to meet demand for youth football.

Recommendations - Grass
Ensure existing maintenance of good quality pitches continues. Where pitches are 
assessed as standard or poor quality and/or overplayed, review/improve 
maintenance regimes to ensure it is of an appropriate standard to sustain/improve 
pitch quality. Maintenance needs to be at a level that is sustainable both by the 
council and by the clubs.  

Transfer play on sites which are played to capacity or overplayed to alternative 
venues which are not operating at capacity or are not currently available for 
community use. 

Page 70



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 16

Work to accommodate displaced, latent and overplay on sites which are not 
operating at capacity or work with providers of sites to open up sites which are 
currently unavailable for community use. 

Consider reconfiguring pitches in order to meet current and future demand.

Work with schools to maximise access to secondary schools and academies to 
address latent, displaced or future demand and to develop school-club links. 

Where appropriate, develop partnership and/or lease arrangements with large, 
sustainable, development-minded clubs to manage their own ‘home’ sites thus 
facilitating club development.

Assess the feasibility of bringing lapsed/disused sites back into use.

Artificial Grass Pitches

Key Issues
There are 16 Artificial Grass Pitches (AGPs) in the borough; 15 are 3G and 2 are 
sand based.  Of those 5 are small sided 3G and 5 full sized 3G.Of the 16 AGPs only 
12 are available for community use.
There is 1 full size AGP at Heywood Sports Village that is temporarily closed due to 
refurbishment.  Once this is complete there will be 8 operational full size 3G AGPs.
There is only one full sized sand based AGP suitable for hockey use.
All apart from Heywood Sports Village are education sites.  
AGPs are evenly distributed across the borough and sub areas but there are no full 
sized 3G AGPs in the Heywood and Pennines areas, only small sized AGPs.
5 pitches are FA or FIFA accredited.
There are no World Rugby accredited AGPs in the borough.
Community use is limited at some sites.
1 site (St Mary’s RC Primary School) is at capacity.
Although there appears to be spare capacity the hours are generally outside of the 
AGP peak period.

Scenarios AGPs
The FA has asked the council to consider a scenario whereby play is transferred from local 
authority managed grass pitches to AGPs.

During the last decade 3G FTPs have played an increasing role within the national game.  
They are regarded by the Football Association (FA) as the optimum facility for training by 
clubs.  In recent seasons they have also become more popular for competitive matches.  
With this in mind, before developing the recommendations and action plan for this PPS, two 
scenarios have been looked at to help with understanding what demand there may be for full 
size2 floodlit 3G FTPs in Rochdale Borough if increased amounts of play were to take place 
on them.   

In order to do so, information from the ‘Assessment’ stage of developing this PPS, alongside 
details from the FA, have been used to help answer the following questions:

2  A full size 3G FTP measuring 106m x 70m including run off/safety margins.
Page 71



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 17

How many full size floodlit 3G FTPs may be required to meet demand within Rochdale 
Borough if:

 All teams playing competitive football had access to a full size floodlit 3G FTP to train 
on once a week?

 All matches for teams currently playing competitive football on Rochdale managed 
natural grass pitches were played on full size floodlit 3G FTPs?    

The answers to these questions are set out below and are based on full sized floodlit 3G 
FTPs which have full community use during peak periods3.  However, the results should be 
viewed as providing an indication of the ‘full size pitch equivalents’ that may be required to 
meet training demanded.  In practice, the most appropriate ways of meeting any such 
increase in demand will vary depending on the nature of the local area.  For example, in 
some areas new full size floodlit FTPs may be appropriate, whereas in others small sided 
provision to cater for increased training use, or securing greater community use/hours of 
existing provision may be the best way forward.

Given the above, what the answers may mean for the Rochdale borough area, taking into 
account the wider findings from the Assessment stage of developing the PPS, is also 
presented below.  These details have been used to help inform the development of the 
PPS’s recommendations and the action plan. 

Scenario Results
If all teams playing competitive football had access to a full size floodlit 3G FTP to train on 
once a week.

As a guide the FA suggests that 1 full size floodlit 3G FTP could potentially 
accommodate this training demand from 42 teams (Ratio of 1:424).
The information from the Assessment stage of this PPS indicates that there are 194 
teams playing competitive football in Rochdale.
Using the FA’s 1:42 ratio suggests that 5 (rounded up from4.60 full size floodlit 3G FTPs 
would be required to meet current training demand within Rochdale.

This equates to:
 1 pitch in Heywood, Area A, (rounded up from 0.66,
  1, pitch in  Area  B Middleton, (rounded down from 1.33), 
  1 pitch in Pennines, Area C (rounded up from 0,88)
 ,2 pitches, in Rochdale Area D (rounded up from 1.73)

If all matches for teams playing competitive football on Rochdale Borough managed natural 
grass pitches were played on full size floodlit 3G FTPs.

The FA is keen to work with LAs to understand the potential demand for full size floodlit 3G 
FTPs should all competitive matches, currently played on LA managed natural grass pitches, 
be transferred to one.

3  Weekdays 17:00 - 21:00 (or 19:00 on Fridays) and 09:00 - 17:00 on weekends.
4 The FA developed the training ratio following their facilities strategy vision to provide all affiliated clubs with access to a 

3G FTP for training. An original ratio of 1:56 was based on a full size pitch providing 56 slots per week (Mon-Thurs 6-9pm, 
Fri 6-8pm). The ratio was subsequently revised to 1:42.  This was due to evidence of a number of local authority areas 
reaching the perceived required number of 3G FTP facilities based on the 1:56 ratio yet still evidencing latent demand. 
Further FA analysis of 3G FTP facility usage also showed that many affiliated teams seek more than one slot for training 
and that significant amounts of non FA affiliated and recreational demand also use 3G FTPs during the peak time, 
creating a need for further 3G FTP provision.

Page 72



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 18

Table 1 takes information from the Assessment stage of this PPS to present the number of 
teams playing on LA managed natural grass pitches (not including school sites or sites 
leased to clubs) and the relevant peak periods.

Table 1: Number of teams playing on LA managed natural grass pitches

Pitch Type Pitch Size Peak Period No. of Teams

Adult (11v11) Saturday pm / Sunday am 29
Youth (7v7) 0
Youth (9v9) Saturday Morning 22
Youth (11v11) Saturday morning 15
Mini (5v5) Sunday morning 10
Mini (7v7) Sunday morning 19

The FA suggest an approach (see below) for estimating the number of full size floodlit 3G 
FTPs that teams may demand for competitive matches.  Table 2 presents the results of this 
approach for the teams set out in Table 1. 

Table 2: Number of 3G FTPs that may be required 

Pitch 
Type

Pitch 
Size

number of 
teams

no of 
matches

3G units 
per match

total units 
required

3G pitches 
required

Adult (11v11) 27 13.5 4 54 0.8
Youth (7v7) 0 0 4 0 0.0
Youth (9v9) 13 6.5 8 52 0.8
Youth (11v11) 12 6 10 60 0.9
Mini (5v5) 7 3.5 32 112 1.8
Mini (7v7) 14 7 32 224 3.5

7.8

Transferring all matches for teams currently playing competitive football on Rochdale 
Borough managed natural grass pitches may equate to a demand for 8 full-size floodlit 3G 
FTPs for all the different formats of the game.

The FA approach for estimating the number of full size floodlit 3G FTPs that teams may 
demand for competitive matches is based on:

A team playing a ‘home’ match every other week - therefore dividing the number of 
teams by two with the result rounded up to provide a figure for the number of matches a 
week during the peak period (Table 2 Column y).
A 3G FTP being available for 4 hours5 a day during the peak period (e.g. 10am to 2pm).  
Therefore, all demand being programmed over the four hour period.
Using a unit measure which can be applied to the different formats of the game to 
quantify how a pitch can be used during this 4 hour period (Table 2).  One unit is taken 
as equating to a quarter of a full size 3G FTP for 15 minutes.  Therefore, a full size 3G 

5 The rationale for 4 hours is based on a standard approach for match programming nationally and the ability to facilitate 2 
adult games.

Page 73



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 19

FTP provides 4 units per 15 minutes and 16 units per hour. Across the four hour period 
this totals a capacity of 64 units (16 units per hour x 4 hours). 
As set out in Table 3 below, each format of the game will require a certain amount of 
units of a full size 3G FTP per match based on the required pitch size and match 
duration.    

Table 3: FA set units of a full size 3G FTP per match for each format.

Format of 
the game

No. of 
pitches that 
fit on a full 
size 3G 
FTP

No. of matches 
per hour on a 
full size 3G 
FTP

No. of matches 
per 2 hour 
period on a full 
size 3G FTP

Number 
of units 
per 
match

5v5 4 4 8 4
7v7 2 2 4 8
9v9 2 2 2 10
11v11 Youth 1 0 1 32
11v11 Adult 1 0 1 32

Current Supply
There are currently a total of 8 full size floodlit 3G FTPs available for community use 
and club training, although 1 pitch does not offer secure use and 1 pitch is 
temporarily out of use due to refurbishment.  
5 of the total 3G FTPs are listed on the FA’s 3G FTP register6 and deemed suitable 
for competitive matches.
6 of the total 3G FTPs are available for what could be expected to be the full 
community use hours across the week (or very close to the full hours).  
2 of the total 3G FTPs have particularly restricted community use hours.
There is a further 1 full size 3G FTPs currently unavailable for community use.
There are a further 4 small sided 3G FTP sites that are available for community use 
providing 6 small sided pitches.

What this may mean for 3G FTP provision in Rochdale
This analysis suggests that the borough needs 5 full sized AGPs for training purposes and a 
further 3 if competitive play is moved from grass to AGPs.
There are currently 14 AGPs in the borough but only 8 are full sized, flood lit and available 
for community use.  The current supply of AGPs is well used but mainly for training and 
casual use.  Very few competitive games are currently played on AGPs.

If this approach were to be adopted then this could lead to savings for the council in the long 
term as fewer natural grass pitches would need to be maintained to league play standards.

This scenario looks only at football use but there is a demand for AGPs for hockey and for 
Rugby for training use.

There is a need under this scenario for a full sized pitch in the Pennines sub area.  This 
need is supported elsewhere in the analysis and could potentially be made a dual use facility 
to cater for rugby training needs in the borough. 

6 The FA has established a 3G FTP register to help users identify facilities that are fit for purpose for competitive matches 
http://3g.thefa.me.uk/.

Page 74

http://3g.thefa.me.uk/


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 20

There is a need to retain an AGP suitable for hockey use.  This is currently at Oulder Hill 
School.

Recommendations - AGPs
 Seek to get full sized pitches FA accredited where possible.
 Seek to extend community use at key school sites.
 Work with schools on the development of facilities on school sites so that formal 

sports requirements are considered rather than just filling the pitch to the space 
available.

 St Mary’s School pitch will need replacing in the next 12 months.  
 There is no full sized pitch in the Pennines Area.  There are 3 pitches but all are 

small and one (Milnrow Parish) is not available for community use.  Look to develop 
a business case for a full sized pitch in this area and seek to make it suitable for 
rugby as well as football use.

 The AGP at Oulder Hill School will need replacing within 5 years.  Works with the 
school to secure continued use for hockey.

Cricket pitches

Key issues
There are a number of cricket clubs and pitches in the borough most are owned by the 
clubs, although there are some wickets on school sites.
There are wickets on some council owned sites but these are no longer maintained.
Cricket is widely played on a casual basis throughout the borough – this demand has 
been difficult to capture.
Lancashire Cricket Club asked that Walsden Cricket Club was included in our analysis 
even though it is located outside of the borough because the club plays in the Lancashire 
Pennines League.
All the pitches have been rated as good or standard.
3 pitches are currently over played and a further 3 clubs may struggle to accommodate 
their planned growth.
Currently changing facilities at many clubs would not support the women’s game.
There is no Last Man Standing (LMS) played in the borough.
The ECB is developing a ‘Park Cricket’ form of the game.

Scenarios
Issues of overplay could be addressed through introducing artificial grass wickets and 
encouraging the use of such wickets for competitive play.  An artificial wicket will sustain 60 
match equivalents throughout the season; a grass wicket will sustain only 5.
There is a great deal of casual play in the borough; artificial strips could be installed at the 
key hub sites in the borough to encourage this play and to support other formats of the 
game.

Recommendations - Cricket
Protection of pitches should be retained against all current club sites.  Those schools with 
cricket facilities especially Hollingworth and Wardle Academies, St Cuthbert’s and 
Sandbrook should also be protected.  
The protection of all current pitches will help to ensure the decline in cricket pitches across 
the borough is halted. 

Page 75



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 21

Enhanced provision can be delivered through improved maintenance, better on site 
facilities, reduced unauthorised access and investment in club house and changing 
improvements.  Detailed improvements are shown in the site specific recommendations.  
In addition, capacity issues can be accommodated on those sites with non-turf wickets with a 
change in acceptance of league matches being played on artificial wickets. 

Providing new provision for cricket in the form of non-turf wickets is planned in each of the 
four townships to redress the decline in grass cricket pitches and meet the demand of casual 
play.  Locations will be prioritised and selected where they can support a shortfall in capacity 
of adjacent of nearby clubs.  
This work will closely align with the emerging strategic direction for cricket in parks with 
transferable lessons from the pilots already trailed in Bradford and Manchester.  The capital 
investment of an artificial wicket will be funded from Section 106 Formal Sports provision 
with maintenance agreements sought with ECB and local clubs to formulate sustainable 
revenue and business plans. 

Rugby Football Union

Key Issues
There are only 2 rugby union clubs in the borough; Rochdale and Littleborough.
There are 29 teams but only 1 women’s team and 3 girls teams.
Both sites are over played.
Training takes place on dedicated pitches. 
There is demand for increased training facilities.

Scenarios
Significant improvements are required to the maintenance programme at Rochdale 
Moorgate RUFC. If maintenance was increased from poor to good across the five 
pitches this would increase capacity by 4.5 match sessions per week which would 
address overplay and bring the site into a position of playing to capacity but further 
capacity would be required to meet future demand. Alternatively increasing maintenance 
to standard and further reducing training on the match pitch through access to a 
dedicated floodlit training area would also address shortfalls.
Similarly increasing pitch maintenance from poor to good quality at Littleborough RUFC 
would increase weekly capacity by 1 match sessions for each pitch and would also 
address overplay and also build a small amount of future capacity.
Securing additional land for training purposes at Littleborough would reduce the play on 
the match pitches.
Improvements to the club house and changing facilities at Littleborough would help with 
player retention and support the growth of women’s teams.

Recommendations – Rugby Football Union
Address overplay at Rochdale RUFC via improvements to maintenance schedule and 
increasing the number of floodlit pitches to ensure that game time and training time can 
be appropriately managed to avoid overuse of one pitch. Consider the potential for a 
floodlit AGP either on site or refurbishment of an existing AGP in the area to meet World 
Rugby regulations. 
The pitches at Littleborough RUFC would greatly benefit from a new drainage system. 
Consider the allocation of S106 monies to assist Littleborough RUFC with improvements 
to the club house.

Page 76



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 22

Review council land ownership in the vicinity of Littleborough RUFC to see if additional 
land for training could be made available. 
To work with schools and/or academies to maximise access to pitches currently 
unavailable for community use that are located on educational sites. 

Rugby league pitches

Key issues
 There are 3 rugby league clubs in the borough; 2 in Rochdale and 1 in Pennines.
 Capacity issues exist at Rochdale Mayfield and at Littleborough due to shared use of the 

sites with rugby union, football and cricket at Littleborough and with football only at 
Mayfield.

 Changing inadequacy highlighted at Firgrove.
 Floodlighting for training highlighted by all clubs.
 Demand can be met across all pitches if training is moved off the current pitches.

Scenarios
 Littleborough RLFC shares a ground with Littleborough RUFC.  The scenarios set out for 

rugby union above apply here also.
 Improved maintenance at Mayfield RLFC would help to improve capacity.  The 

development of an additional pitch for training would also assist. Consider the potential 
of an AGP within the area that is rugby compliant.

 Improvements to the pitches and changing rooms at Firgrove will assist Rochdale 
Cobras.  

Recommendations – Rugby League
 Where pitches are assessed as standard or poor quality, review maintenance regimes to 

ensure it is of an appropriate standard to sustain/improve pitch quality.
 Work to reduce training on match pitches through access to dedicated training areas.
 Improvements to be carried out at Firgrove to changing rooms and showers.
 Mayfield has secured funding for pitch improvements.

Hockey pitches (AGPs)

Key issues
o There are 2 hockey clubs in the borough – one mens and 1 ladies.  Both clubs play on 

the same site (Oulder Hill School).
o No capacity or demand issues recorded.

Recommendations – Hockey Pitches
o Protect the AGP at Oulder Hill School for use by the hockey clubs as a priority. 
o The council/ planning authority should plan for always having at least one full sized sand 

based/filled, floodlit AGP suitable for and meeting the criteria for competitive hockey and 
training.

Page 77



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 23

Lacrosse
o 1 club; all male.
o 7 teams; 3 adult; 4 teams U19; U16; U14; U12.
o 2 pitches used on 1 club owned site.
o No capacity or demand issues.

Recommendations - Lacrosse
o Support the club in its development activities.

Rounders
 Rounders is widely played in the borough and in schools but there is only 1 Ladies 

League comprising 28 teams all ladies aged 16+. 
 League plays at Firgrove over 6 pitches.
 Changing not used only WC.
 Site/ pitch satisfaction very high.
 Some capacity issues:
 Play commences after football season ends.
 Location can clash with Rugby League pitches.
 Unlikely demand issues from league only.

Future Picture of Provision
The future picture of rounders will depend on the sustainability and survival of the league 
and committee; however, a number of Link4Life staff are involved in rounders either 
personally and through continued annual funding from Rounders England to grow 
interest in the game, develop coaching and skills.

Bowling greens
Bowling greens have not been officially assessed as part of this playing pitch strategy 
however Crown green bowling is popular in Rochdale borough.  It is a distinctive part of 
the sporting and cultural scene and is popular with many older people who do not take 
part on other active sports. The Sport England Active People survey suggests that the 
numbers participating in the sport is declining.

The council provides 24 bowling greens in 20 locations throughout the borough.  9 are 
located within formal parks, 7 are within smaller recreation areas and 8 are stand-alone 
facilities.  All except Summit have at least one pavilion or building for use by the bowlers.

In addition to the council facilities there are at least 16 private greens / clubs throughout 
the borough

Recommendations – Bowling Greens
 Undertake a formal review of bowing green supply and demand.
 Address spare capacity and maximise the availability of bowling greens for pay and play 

in order to raise the profile of the game, increase levels of membership and the revenue 
generated by sites.

 Support clubs which plan to attract younger people through hosting events such as 
family days as well as establishing links with local primary schools.

 Where demand exists, ensuring that quality is sustained or improved.
Page 78



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 24

PART 4: Strategic Recommendations
The strategic recommendations for the Strategy have been developed from the key issues 
cutting across all outdoor sports and categorised under each of the Strategy Aims. They 
reflect overarching and common areas to be addressed which apply across outdoor sports 
facilities and may not be specific to just one sport. 

Recommendation a – Protect playing field sites through local planning 
policy
The PPS Assessment shows that all currently used playing field sites require protection and 
therefore cannot be deemed surplus to requirements because of shortfalls now and in the 
future. Therefore, based on the outcomes of the PPS, local planning policy should reflect this 
situation.

Paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that existing open 
space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built 
on unless:

 An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

 The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or

 The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss.

The protection of recreational open space within the Borough, including playing pitches, was 
covered under policy G/3 ‘Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space’ of the Unitary 
Development Plan (UDP).  The UDP has now been replaced, in part, by the Core Strategy.  
This plan includes policies C8 ‘Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities’ and 
G6 ‘Enhancing green infrastructure’ both of which support the protection and enhancement 
of open spaces, including playing pitches.  However, as the Core Strategy does not include 
any site specific designations, policy G/3 of the UDP is saved until it is replaced by a Site 
Allocations or other Development Plan Document.  Therefore the current policy position 
retains policy G/3 of the UDP which should be read in conjunction with policies C8 and G6 of 
the Core Strategy.

Recommendations:
a. Protect playing field sites through local planning policy.

b. Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, development minded clubs, 
through a range of solutions and partnership agreements.

c. Maximise community use of outdoor sports facilities where there is a need to do so.

AIM 1
To protect the existing supply of playing pitch facilities where it is needed for meeting 
current or future needs

Page 79



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 25

The supporting text to policy C8 acknowledges the importance of up to date assessments of 
open space in order to inform decision making.  The Playing Pitch Strategy therefore forms 
an important part of the evidence base going forward and will also help to inform the 
subsequent Site Allocations or other Development Plan Document.  This will form the basis 
for the ongoing protection and enhancement of those pitches which are considered 
necessary to meet the needs of the borough.

Lapsed and disused –  playing field sites that  formerly accommodated playing pitches but 
are no longer used for formal or informal sports use:    

 Disused – sites that are not being used at all by any users and are not available for 
community hire either. Once these sites are disused for five or more years they will 
then be categorised as ‘lapsed sites’.

 Lapsed - last known use was as a playing field more than five years ago. These sites 
fall outside of Sport England’s statutory remit but still have to be assessed using the 
criteria in paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Sport 
England would nonetheless challenge a proposed loss of playing pitches/playing field 
which fails to meet such criteria. 

The following sites have been identified as either disused or lapsed within the assessment 
report and have been included within the action plan:

Site name Sport(s) Status When 
last 
used?

Comments

Balderstone Park Rugby 
union

lapsed 2009 Area has been incorporated into the park, 
part has been developed as a skate park

Balderstone Park 
(formerly 
Balderstone 
School) 

School 
playing 
field

lapsed 2012 To be reinstated as 2 adult pitches for 
public / community use

Hare Hill 
recreation ground

Football lapsed 2006 This site is being used as part of the 
borough’s flood defence measures and is 
no longer available for formal sports use

King George 
playing fields

Football lapsed 2008 Pitches could be reinstated if sufficient 
demand can justify the investment

Lowerplace Football lapsed 2009 Part of the site has been allocated as 
school playing fields 

Mossway playing 
fields  (Alkrington)

Football
Rugby 
League

Temporarily 
closed

2015 Team Alkrington Dynamos now use 
Heywood Sports Village, Hopwood sports 
arena and Cardinal Langley.  This site is 
to be used as a training facility for 
Rochdale Hornets Rugby League Club

Shawclough 
Primary school 

Football Disused 2016 School use many other facilities because 
they cannot use this; it is more of a public 
park because it is not fenced off and is 
not playable for most of the time

Stoneyfield 
Recreation 
Ground

Football lapsed 2008 Used for informal play

Wardle 
Recreation 
Ground and 
Clough St play 
area

Football Disused 2012 Pitch was reinstated in 2016

Page 80



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 26

It is important to understand that where a pitch is identified as being lapsed, underused or of 
poor quality this does not necessarily mean that the facility is surplus to requirements. 
Equally where proposed development is located within access of a high quality playing pitch, 
this does not necessarily mean that there is no need for further pitch provision or 
improvements to existing pitches.

Sport England’s playing field policy only allows for development of lapsed or disused playing 
fields if a PPS shows a clear excess in the quantity of playing pitch provision at present and 
in the future across all sports, the site concerned has no special significance to sport and the 
development involves measures to address any deficiencies in terms of quality or 
accessibility identified by the PPS.  Playing Pitch Strategy guidance similarly states that loss 
of such sites without appropriate replacement should not be considered except in very 
limited circumstances where the assessment has clearly shown:

 That there is an excess of accessible provision with secured community use in the 
study area, and;

 The particular provision at a site deemed to be surplus to requirements does not 
have any special interest to sport. 

The PPS Assessment shows that all currently used playing field sites require protection and 
therefore cannot be deemed surplus to requirements because of shortfalls now and in the 
future. Lapsed, disused, underused and poor quality sites should also be protected from 
development or replaced as there is a need for playing field land to accommodate more 
pitches to meet the identified shortfalls.

It is recommended that the Council allocates all disused/lapsed sites as playing field in the 
first instance until such time as the Council, NGB/Community group or a developer 
expresses an interest in the site.  It is also recommended that the following priority order of 
options is adopted with regards to addressing disused/lapsed sites:

1. Explore the feasibility of bringing the site back into use. A feasibility study may show 
either:

a. The site can be brought back into sustainable use where funding is available 
and use is secured by the Council and relevant NGBs/Community Groups; or

b. The site is not in a sustainable location and in which case no amount of 
money will make it desirable.

2. The site could become public open space to meet a need identified in the Open 
Space Study; or

3. Redevelop the site for an alternative use but use the capital receipt to invest in 
existing sites in the locality.

Each currently disused/lapsed site is included within the action plan together with a 
recommendation in relation to the need to bring the site back into use or mitigate the loss on 
a replacement site to address the shortfalls identified with the Assessment.   

New housing development - where proposed housing development is located within access 
of a high quality playing pitch, this does not necessarily mean that there is no need for 
further pitch provision or improvements to existing pitches in that area in order to 
accommodate additional demand arising from that development. The PPS should be used to 
help determine what impact the new development will have on the demand and capacity of 

Page 81



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 27

existing sites in the area, and whether there is a need for improvements to increase capacity 
or if new provision is required.

Future Housing Growth – calculations have been undertaken using Sport England’s New 
Development Pitch Calculator and Sports Facility Calculator to estimate the additional 
demand generated by housing by sport and pitch type. These figures have been included in 
the future demand column of each of the demand / supply tables contained within the 
Assessment Report.

Development management - the PPS should be used to help inform Development 
Management decisions that affect existing or new playing fields, pitches and ancillary 
facilities.  All applications are assessed by the Local Planning Authority on a case by case 
basis taking into account site specific factors. In addition, Sport England as statutory 
consultee on planning applications that affect or prejudice the use of playing field will use the 
PPS to help assess that planning application against paragraph 74 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) and their Playing Fields Policy.

Sport England’s playing field policy exception E1 only allows for development of lapsed or 
disused playing fields if a PPS shows a clear excess in the quantity of playing pitch provision 
at present and in the future across all playing pitch sports types and sizes. 

Policy Exception E1:
‘A carefully quantified and documented assessment of current and future needs has 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of Sport England that there is an excess of playing field 
provision in the catchment, and the site has no special significance to the interests of sport’.

Where the PPS cannot demonstrate the site, or part of a site, is clearly surplus to 
requirements then replacement of the site, or part of a site, will be required to comply with 
Sport England policy exception E4.

Policy Exception E4:
‘The playing field or fields to be lost as a result of the proposed development would be 
replaced, prior to the commencement of development, by a new playing field site or sites: 

 of equivalent or better quality and 
 of equivalent or greater quantity; 
 in a suitable location and 
 subject to equivalent or better management arrangements. 

Further to this, all playing fields should be protected or replaced up until the point where all 
satisfied demand has been met within the study area or each individual sports catchment 
areas within a sub area.

It may be appropriate to dispose of some existing playing field sites (that are of low value i.e. 
one/two pitch sites with no changing provision) to generate investment towards creating 
bigger better quality sites (Strategic Sites) in order to develop the hierarchy of sites (see 
recommendation e).   

Any planning applications as such would have to show that new playing field land was being 
created on a Strategic Site that represented at least equivalent replacement for the playing 
field(s) being lost.

Page 82



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 28

In terms of mitigation it is important, where possible and appropriate for a particular sport, 
that this takes place in an area that is accessible to the playing field that is lost to avoid a 
scenario where a redundant playing field is lost in an area which has deficiencies and is 
replaced on the other side of the authority. 

Furthermore any school sites which become redundant over the lifetime of the Strategy may 
offer potential for meeting community needs on a localised basis. Where schools are closed 
their playing fields may be dedicated to community use to help address any unmet 
community needs. Closed school playing fields should be considered in the first instance for 
becoming community playing fields for meeting the needs identified in the Strategy before 
being considered for other uses. 

The following should be considered when assessing the suitability of conversion of former 
school playing fields for community use:

 Location and willingness of LA/club or other party to take on ownership / lease / 
maintenance

 Size
 Quality
 Physical accessibility
 History of community access
 Availability of ancillary facilities

Local authorities wanting to dispose of school playing field land need consent under Section 
77 of the Schools Standards and Framework Act 1998, but consent is now also required for 
disposal of any land used by a school or academy under Schedule 1 to the Academies Act 
2010. 

It should be noted that consent under Section 77 of the Schools Standards and Framework 
Act does not necessarily mean subsequent planning approval will be granted. Therefore, any 
application for planning permission must meet the requirements of the relevant policy, in this 
case paragraph 74 of Framework, Local Plan Policy and Sport England policy. Indeed, 
applicants are advised to engage Sport England before submitting applications. Robust 
implementation of the statutory obligation will ensure protection of school playing fields for 
use by pupils (and sometimes the community as a whole) to ensure receipt is ploughed back 
into sports education.

Recommendation b – Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, 
development minded clubs through a range of solutions and partnership 
agreements
Local sports clubs should be supported by partners including the Council, NGBs or the 
County Sports Partnership (CSP) to achieve sustainability across a range of areas including 
management, membership, funding, facilities, volunteers and partnership working. For 
example, support club development and encourage clubs to develop evidence of business 
and sports development plans to generate an income through their facilities. All clubs could 
be encouraged to look at different management models such as registering as Community 
Amateur Sports Clubs (CASC)7. Clubs should also be encouraged to work with partners 
locally whether volunteer support agencies or linking with local businesses.

7 http://www.cascinfo.co.uk/cascbenefits
Page 83



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 29

As well as improving the quality of well-used, local authority sites, there are a number of 
sites which have poor quality (or no) ancillary facilities. It is recommended that security of 
tenure should be granted to the clubs playing on these sites (minimum 25 years as 
recommended by Sport England and NGBs) so the clubs are in a position to apply for 
external funding to improve the ancillary facilities. 

There are a number of sites in Rochdale where security of tenure for the club/user needs to 
be secured (on private or industrial playing fields for example). This also often refers to 
education sites where formal community use agreements are not in place. NGBs can often 
help to negotiate and engage with schools, particularly academies where the local authority 
may not have direct influence. For further information on this, please refer to Objective g.

In addition there are a number of examples in Rochdale where long term leases could be put 
into place for the continued use of a site. Each club should be required to meet service 
and/or strategic recommendations. However, an additional set of criteria should be 
considered, which takes into account the quality of the club, aligned to its long term 
development objectives and sustainability. 

In the context of the Comprehensive Spending Review, which announced public spending 
cuts, it is increasingly important for the Council to work with voluntary sector organisations in 
order that they may be able to take greater levels of ownership and support the wider 
development and maintenance of facilities. 

To facilitate this, the Council should support and enable clubs to generate sufficient funds to 
allow this.

Recommended criteria for lease of sport sites to clubs/organisations

Club Site

 Clubs should have Clubmark /FA 
Charter Standard accreditation 
award.

 Clubs commit to meeting 
demonstrable local demand and 
show pro-active commitment to 
developing school-club links.

 Clubs are sustainable, both in a 
financial sense and via their internal 
management structures in relation to 
recruitment and retention policy for 
both players and volunteers

 Ideally, clubs should have already 
identified (and received an 
agreement in principle) any match 
funding required for initial capital 
investment identified.

 Clubs have processes in place to 
ensure capacity to maintain sites to 
the existing, or better, standards.

 Sites should be those identified as 
‘Club Sites’ (recommendation d) for 
new clubs (i.e. not those with a 
boroughwide significance) but which 
offer development potential. For 
established clubs which have 
proven success in terms of self-
management ‘Key Centres’ are also 
appropriate.

 As a priority, sites should acquire 
capital investment to improve (which 
can be attributed to the presence of 
a Clubmark / Charter Standard 
club).

 Sites should be leased with the 
intention that investment can be 
sourced to contribute towards 
improvement of the site.

 An NGB/Council representative 
should sit on a management 
committee for each site leased to a 

Page 84



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 30

Club Site
club.

The Council can further recognise the value of Clubmark / Charter Standard by adopting a 
policy of prioritising the clubs that are to have access to these better quality facilities. This 
may be achieved by inviting clubs to apply for season long leases on a particular site as an 
initial trial. 

The Council should establish a series of core outcomes to derive from clubs taking on a 
lease arrangement to ensure that the most appropriate clubs are assigned to sites. As an 
example outcomes may include:

 Increasing participation. 
 Supporting the development of coaches and volunteers.
 Commitment to quality standards.
 Improvements (where required) to facilities, or as a minimum retaining existing 

standards.

In addition, clubs should be made fully aware of the associated responsibilities/liabilities 
when considering leases of multi-use public playing fields.

Community Asset Transfer

The Council should work towards adopting a policy which supports community management 
and ownership of assets to local clubs, community groups and trusts. This presents sports 
clubs and national governing bodies with opportunities to take ownership of their own 
facilities; it may also provide non-asset owning sports clubs with their first chance to take on 
a building. 

The Sport England Community Sport Asset Transfer Toolkit is a bespoke, interactive web 
based tool that provides a step by step guide through each stage of the asset transfer 
process: 

http://www.sportengland.org/support__advice/asset_transfer.aspx

Recommendation c – Maximise community use of outdoor sports 
facilities where there is a need to do so

Education sites
In order to maximise community use of educational facilities it is recommended to establish a 
more coherent, structured relationship with schools. The ability to access good facilities 
within the local community is vital to any sports organisation, yet many clubs struggle to find 
good quality places to play and train. In Rochdale pricing policies at facilities can be barrier 
to access at some of the education sites but physical access and resistance from schools, 
especially academies, to open up 3G provision is also an issue.

A large number of sporting facilities are located on education sites and making these 
available to sports clubs can offer significant benefits to both the school/college and the local 
clubs. The Council and other key partners must work with schools and colleges to develop 
an understanding of the issues that restrict or affect community access. Support should be 
provided, where appropriate, to address underlying problems. Consideration should be given 

Page 85

http://www.sportengland.org/support__advice/asset_transfer.aspx


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 31

to a centralised booking system for community use of schools and colleges to minimise 
administration and make access easier for the users.

It is not uncommon for school pitch stock not to be fully maximised for community use. Even 
on established community use sites, access to grass pitches for community use is limited. 

The Assessment Report identified several issues relating to the use of school facilities:

 Many sites are underutilised, especially for competitive play for football.
 Community use is limited and often based on informal agreements between 

individual schools and clubs. 
 There is no strategic guidance as to which clubs are allocated the use of playing 

pitch facilities (i.e. in accordance with a strategic need). 
 There are a number of school sites where a community use agreement is in place but 

it is not clear whether the agreement is being upheld.
 There are management issues inherent in developing, implementing and managing 

community use agreements. Advice and guidance can be obtained from Sport 
England’s Schools toolkit and Sports organisations toolkit.
(www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning)

Where appropriate, it will be important for schools to negotiate and sign formal and long-term 
agreements that secure community use. This need to be examined against these issues:

The analysis provides a clear indication of the future pitch requirements and provides a basis 
for partners to negotiate.
Community use should not impact on the needs of schools to deliver curricular and 
extracurricular activities. 

Sport England has also produced guidance, online resources and toolkits to help open up 
and retain school sites for community use and can be found at:
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/use-our-school/

It is recommended that a working group, led by a partner from the education sector but 
supported by a range of other sectors including sport and leisure is established to implement 
the strategic direction in relation to the increased/better use of school facilities. Broadly 
speaking, its role should be to:

 To better understand current community use, practices and issues by ‘auditing’ 
schools.

 Ensure community use agreements are upheld.
 Identify and pilot one school/club formal community use agreement with a view to 

rolling out the model across the area.
 Ensure that funding to improve the quality of the facilities is identified and secured.
 As part of any agreement secure a management arrangement for community access, 

which does not rely on existing school staff structures.
 Ensure that pitch provision at schools is sufficient in quality and quantity to be able to 

deliver its curriculum. Once this has been achieved provision could contribute to 
overcoming deficiencies in the area.

Although there are a growing number of academies and college sites in Rochdale, which the 
Council has no control over the running of, it is still important to understand the significance 
of such sites and attempt to work with the schools where there are opportunities for 
community use. In addition, the relevant NGB has a role to play in supporting the Council to 

Page 86

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 32

deliver the strategy and communicating with schools where necessary to address shortfalls 
in provision, particularly for football pitches. 

Recommendation d – Improve pitch quality
There are a number of ways in which it is possible to increase pitch quality, including for 
example, addressing overplay and improving maintenance. These are explored in more 
detail below.

The FA Pitch Improvement Programme (PIP)
The key principles behind the service are to provide football clubs with advice/practical 
solutions on a number of areas and discounts on machinery and materials to support 
improving the clubs’ playing surface. The programme should be utilised in order to help any 
clubs that take on the management and maintenance of sites or which are currently 
managing and maintaining their own pitch site. 

As subsidy is removed for pitch maintenance the PIP is an essential toolkit in supporting 
self-management/maintenance of sites, particularly on adult sites that have historically been 
maintained by the Council.

Addressing quality issues
Generally where pitches are assessed as standard or poor quality and/or overplayed, 
review/improve maintenance regimes to ensure it is of an appropriate standard to 
sustain/improve pitch quality. Ensuring existing maintenance of good quality pitches 
continues is also important.

Based on an achievable target using existing quality scoring to provide a baseline, a 
standard should be used to identify deficiencies and investment should be focused on those 
sites which fail to meet the proposed quality standard (using the site audit database, 
provided in electronic format). The Strategy approach to these outdoor sports facilities 
achieving these standards should be to enhance quality and therefore the planning system 
should seek to protect them. 

AIM 2
To enhance playing fields, pitches and ancillary facilities through improving quality and 
management of sites

Recommendation:

d. Improve quality

e. Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) for the management and 
improvement of sites.

f. Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure funding

Page 87



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 33

For the purposes of the Quality Assessments, this Strategy will refer to pitches and ancillary 
facilities separately as Good, Standard or Poor quality. In Rochdale, for example, some good 
quality sites have poor quality elements i.e. changing rooms or a specific pitch.

Good quality refers to pitches that have, for example, a good maintenance regime coupled 
with good grass cover, an even surface, are free from vandalism, litter etc. In terms of 
ancillary facilities, good quality refers to access for disabled people, sufficient provision for 
referees, juniors/women/girls and appropriate provision of showers, toilets and car parking. 
For rugby union, a good pitch is also pipe and/or slit drained.

Standard quality refers to pitches that have, for example, an adequate maintenance regime 
coupled with adequate grass cover, minimal signs of wear and tear, goalposts may be 
secure but in need of minor repair. In terms of ancillary facilities, standard quality refers to 
adequately sized changing rooms, storage provision and provision of toilets. For rugby 
union, drainage is natural and adequate.

Poor quality refers to pitches that have, for example, poor levels of maintenance coupled 
with inadequate grass cover, uneven surface and damage. In terms of ancillary facilities, 
poor quality refers to inappropriate size of changing rooms, no showers, no running water 
and old dated interior. For rugby union, drainage is natural and inadequate.
Please refer to the Sport England/NGB quality assessments. Sites played beyond capacity 
may require remedial action to help reduce this.

For improvement/replacement of AGPs refer to Sport England and the NGBs ‘Selecting the 
Right Artificial Surface for Hockey, Football, Rugby League and Rugby Union’ document for 
a guide as to suitable AGP surfaces:

www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/artificial-
sports-surfaces/

Addressing overplay
In order to improve the overall quality of the playing pitches stock; it is necessary to ensure 
that pitches are not overplayed beyond recommended weekly carrying capacity. This is 
determined by assessing pitch quality (via a non-technical site assessment) and allocating a 
weekly match limit to each. Each NGB recommends a number of matches that a good 
quality pitch should take: 

No. of matchesSport Pitch type
Good quality Standard 

quality
Poor quality

Adult pitches 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week
Youth pitches 4 per week 2 per week 1 per week

Football

Mini pitches 6 per week 4 per week 2 per week
Natural Inadequate 
(D0) 2 per week 1.5 per week 0.5 per week

Natural Adequate (D1) 3 per week 2 per week 1.5 per week
Pipe Drained (D2) 3.25 per week 2.5 per week 1.75 per week

Rugby 
union*

Pipe and Slit Drained 
(D3) 3.5 per week 3 per week 2 per week

Rugby 
league

Senior 3 per week 2 per week 1 per week

Cricket One grass wicket 5 per season N/A N/A
Page 88

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/artificial-sports-surfaces/
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/artificial-sports-surfaces/


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 34

Sport Pitch type No. of matches
Good quality Standard 

quality
Poor quality

One synthetic wicket 60 per season

Please note that the RFU believes that it is most appropriate to base the calculation of 
pitch capacity upon an assessment of the drainage system and maintenance programme 
afforded to a site.

There are also a number of sites that are poor quality but are not overplayed. These sites 
should not be overlooked as often poor quality sites have less demand than other sites but 
demand could increase if the quality was to increase. Improving pitch quality should not be 
considered in isolation from maintenance regimes.

Whilst it works both ways in so much as poor pitch condition is a symptom of pitches being 
over played, potential improvements may make sites more attractive and therefore more 
popular. 

There is also a need to balance pitch improvements alongside the transfer of play to 
alternative pitch sites. Therefore, work with clubs to ensure that sites are not played beyond 
their capacity and encourage play, where possible, to be transferred to alternative venues 
which are not operating at capacity.

Increasing pitch maintenance
Standard or poor grass pitch quality may not just be a result of poor drainage. In some 
instances ensuring there is an appropriate maintenance for the level/standard of play can 
help to improve quality and therefore increase pitch capacity. Each NGB can provide 
assistance with reviewing pitch maintenance regimes.

For example, the FA, ECB and RFL in partnership have recently introduced a Pitch Advisor 
Scheme and have been working in partnership with Institute of Groundmanship (IOG) to 
develop a Grass Pitch Maintenance service that can be utilised by grassroots football clubs 
with the simple aim of improving the quality of grass pitches. The key principles behind the 
service are to provide clubs with advice/practical solutions on a number of areas, with the 
simple aim of improving the club’s playing surface.

In relation to cricket, maintaining high pitch quality is the most important aspect of cricket. If 
the wicket is poor, it can affect the quality of the game and can, in some instances, become 
dangerous. The ECB recommends full technical assessments of wickets and pitches 
available through a Performance Quality Standard Assessment (PQS). The PQS assesses a 
cricket square to ascertain whether the pitch meets the Performance Quality Standards that 
are benchmarked by the Institute of Groundsmanship. 
Please note that PQS assessments are also available for other sports.

Page 89



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 35

Recommendation e – Adopt a tiered approach (hierarchy of provision) 
for the management and improvement of sites
To allow for facility developments to be programmed within a phased approach the Council 
should adopt a tiered approach to the management and improvement of playing pitch sites 
and associated facilities. 

Rochdale borough is organised into 4 township areas.  These have been adopted as sub 
areas for the purposes of this study.  The council proposes that there should be a formal 
sports / grass pitch hub in each township. These sites will be the most popular and will need 
to be of the highest standards to accommodate a sufficient number of matches.  This mainly 
applies to football pitch hire as this is the most widely played sport in the borough and 
because football clubs are most reliant on hiring pitches from other providers; cricket and 
rugby clubs tend to own their own facilities.  
The council vision is that these sites should offer a range a sports and not just football and 
the intention is to try to develop a full grass / pitch sports offer at each site.  This accords 
with the ‘Parklife’ model promoted by the FA aimed at boosting grass roots participation.

These hub sites will be the focus for improvement and investment.

The education establishments in the borough have a good range of sports facilities.  Almost 
all of the high schools have AGPs although not all are full sized.  Some of these facilities are 
key to ensuring the full range of facilities is on offer within each township area.

Also a priority will be the single sports sites where these are the only incidence of this sport 
in the borough.  This is so that the presence of these sports can be retained.  Where there is 
pressure on these sites in terms of capacity the council will seek to work with the clubs and 
governing bodies to provide off site facilities for training.  

There are a number of larger club sites in the borough that accommodate more than one 
pitch and cater for both adult and junior play. These are important as the presence of both 
adult and junior teams within the club helps with the retention of players post 16.  There are 
also a number of multi team junior clubs within the borough.  Youth football is a growth area 
and these clubs place great demand on the pitch stock.

Page 90



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 36

township hub 
sites

key education 
sites

single sports 
representation

larger multi 
pitch club sites

small club sites

Recommendation f – Work in partnership with stakeholders to secure 
funding
Partners, led by the Council, should ensure that appropriate funding secured for improved 
sports provision is directed to areas of need, underpinned by a robust strategy for 
improvement in playing pitch facilities. 

In order to address the community’s needs, to target priority areas and to reduce duplication 
of provision, there should be a coordinated approach to strategic investment. In delivering 
this recommendation the Council should maintain a regular dialogue with local partners and 
through the Playing Pitch Steering Group.

Some investment in new provision will not be made by the Council directly, it is important, 
however, that the Council seeks to direct and lead a strategic and co-ordinated approach to 
facility development by education sites, NGBs, sports clubs and the commercial sector to 
address community needs whilst avoiding duplication of provision. 

Please refer to Appendix Two for further funding information which includes details of the 
current opportunities, likely funding requirements and indicative project costs.  

Sport and physical activity can have a profound effect on peoples’ lives, and plays a crucial 
role in improving community cohesion, educational attainment and self-confidence. 
However, one of sport’s greatest contributions is its positive impact on public health. It is 
therefore important to lever in investment from other sectors such as health through, for 
example, the CCG.

Page 91



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 37

Recommendation g- Rectify quantitative shortfalls in the current pitch 
stock
The Council and its partners should work to rectify identified inadequacies and meet 
identified shortfalls as outlined in the Assessment Report and the sport by sport specific 
recommendations.

It is important that the current levels of grass pitch provision are protected, maintained and 
enhanced to secure provision now and in the future. For most sports the future demand for 
provision identified in Rochdale can be overcome through maximising use of existing pitches 
through a combination of:

 Improving pitch quality in order to improve the capacity of pitches to accommodate 
more matches.

 The re-designation of pitches for which there is an oversupply.
 Securing long term community use at school sites. 
 Working with commercial and private providers to increase usage. 

While maximising the use of existing pitches offers scope to address the quantitative 
deficiencies for most sports, new or additional cricket squares on public or private fields, as 
well as improving existing wickets is required to meet the levels of demand identified for 
cricket both now and in the future. 

There may be a requirement to protect some senior football pitches as this provides the 
flexibility to provide senior, junior or mini pitches (through different line markings/coning 
areas of the pitch). However, further work should be undertaken on this as an action for the 
Council/NGBs. Furthermore the re-designation of adult pitches that are not currently used 
may lead to a deficiency of adult pitches in the medium to longer term as younger players 
move up the ages. It is likely that for some sports, particularly football, that the provision of 
new pitches and facilities will be required in the future to support the predicted future 
demand.

Unmet demand, changes in sport participation and trends, and proposed housing growth 
should be recognised and factored into future facility planning. Assuming an increase in 
participation and housing growth occurs, it will impact on the future need for certain types of 

AIM 3
To provide new playing fields, pitches and ancillary facilities where there is current or 
future demand to do so

Recommendations:

g. Rectify quantitative shortfalls in the current pitch stock.

h. Identify opportunities to add to the overall stock to accommodate both current and 
future demand.

Page 92



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 38

sports facilities. Sports development work also approximates unmet demand which cannot 
currently be quantified (i.e., it is not being suppressed by a lack of facilities) but is likely to 
occur. The following table highlights the main development trends in each sport and their 
likely impact on facilities. However, it is important to note that these may be subject to 
change.

Retaining some spare capacity also allows pitches to be rested to protect overall pitch 
quality in the long term. Therefore, whilst in some instances it may be appropriate to re-
designate a senior pitch where there is low demand identified a holistic approach should be 
taken to re-designation for the reasons cited. The site-by-site action planning will seek to 
provide further clarification on where re-designation is suitable.

Likely future sport-by-sport demand trends 

Sport Future development trend Strategy impact

The needs of the game will 
change significantly from the 
2016/17 season with the change 
in direction of government and 
Sport England policy 

Funding likely to be directed towards hub sites 

Demand for senior football is likely 
to be sustained based on current 
trends and the move to small 
sided football. County FA focus to 
maintain growth of youth football 
through to adults.

Sustain current stock but consideration given to 
reconfigure pitches if required.

An increase in women and girls 
football following £2.4m 
investment over the next two 
years (2014-2016) from Sport 
England to increase the number 
of women and girls taking part in 
football sessions.

A need to provide segregated ancillary facilities 
and the potential need for more pitches.

Fo
ot

ba
ll

Despite scenarios looking at 
increased play on AGPs  the 
quality of natural grass pitches 
remains important 

Need to ensure a there is the right mix of 
facilities to meet demand.

C
ric

ke
t Demand is likely to continue in 

Rochdale for both grass and non-
turf wickets for both junior and 
adult participation. 

High peak time usage for good quality grass 
pitches at club sites will continue, however, a 
likely increase in demand for non-turf wickets if 
LMS is established in the Borough.

Page 93



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 39

Sport Future development trend Strategy impact

Women’s and girls’ cricket is a 
national priority and there is a 
target to establish two girls’ and 
one women’s team in every local 
authority over the next five years.

Support clubs to ensure access to segregated 
changing and toilet provision and access to 
good quality cricket pitches to support growth. 

Following the success of Park 
Run the ECB is trialling ‘Park 
Cricket’ to introduce people to the 
game and encourage participation

Encourage causal play through the provision of 
artificial wickets for community use

The national facilities strategy 
focusses on strengthening clubs 
and the communities around 
them. 

Local clubs need support to be sustainable and 
need investment in facilities to retain players 
and volunteers.

R
ug

by
 u

ni
on

Seek to encourage the women’s 
and girls’ game

Local clubs will need support to improve 
facilities to meet this demand

R
ug

by
 

le
ag

ue The RFL will be publishing a new 
strategy in 2017

Sustain current levels of access to grass 
pitches and improve pitch quality/capacity to 
accommodate current and future growth. 

Demand for 3G pitches for 
competitive football will increase. 
It is likely that future demand for 
the use of 3G pitches to service 
competitive football, particularly 
mini and youth will result in some 
reduced demand for grass 
pitches. 

Ensure that access to new AGP provision 
across the Borough is maximised and that 
community use agreements are in place. 

Provision of 3G pitches which are 
World Rugby compliant will help 
to reduce overplay as a result of 
training on rugby pitches.

AG
Ps

There is a need to retain a hockey 
standard facility within the 
borough

Utilise Sport England/NGB guidance on 
choosing the correct surface:
http://www.sportengland.org/media/30651/Sele
cting-the-right-artificial-surface-Rev2-2010.pdf

look to develop dual use facilities where 
appropriate

Page 94

http://www.sportengland.org/media/30651/Selecting-the-right-artificial-surface-Rev2-2010.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/media/30651/Selecting-the-right-artificial-surface-Rev2-2010.pdf


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 40

Recommendation h - Identify opportunities to add to the overall pitch 
stock to accommodate both current and future demand

The Council should use, and regularly update, the Action Plan within this Strategy for 
improvements to its own pitches whilst recognising the need to support partners. The Action 
Plan lists improvements to be made to each site focused upon both qualitative and 
quantitative improvements as appropriate for each area.

Furthermore any potential school sites which become redundant over the lifetime of the 
Strategy may offer potential for meeting community needs on a localised basis. Where 
schools are closed their playing fields may be converted to dedicated community use to help 
address any unmet community needs.

Page 95



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 41

PART 5: ACTION PLAN

Introduction
The site-by-site action plan list seeks to address key issues identified in the accompanying 
Assessment Report. It provides recommendations based on current levels of usage, quality 
and future demand, as well as the potential of each site for enhancement. 

It should be reviewed in the light of staff and financial resources in order to prioritise support 
for strategically significant provision and provision that other providers are less likely to make.

The Council should make it a high priority to work with NGBs and other partners to compile a 
priority list of actions based on local priorities, NGB priorities and available funding. 

Management and development
The following issues should be considered when undertaking sports related site development 
or enhancement:

 Financial viability.
 Security of tenure.
 Planning permission requirements and any foreseen difficulties in securing permission.
 Adequacy of existing finances to maintain existing sites.
 Business Plan/Masterplan – including financial package for creation of new provision 

where need has been identified. 
 Analysis of the possibility of shared site management opportunities.
 The availability of opportunities to lease sites to external organisations.
 Options to assist community groups to gain funding to enhance existing provision. 
 Negotiation with landowners to increase access to private strategic sites. 
 Football investment programme/3G pitches development with The FA.
 Impact on all sports that use a site regardless of the sport that is the subject of 

enhancements.

 Action plan

Partners 
The column indicating Partners refers to the main organisation that the Council will liaise with 
in helping to deliver the actions. The next stage in the development of the action plan will be to 
agree a Lead Partner to help deliver the actions. 

Site hierarchy tier and priority level
Township hub sites have a high priority level as they have borough wide importance and have 
been identified on the basis of the impact that the site will have on addressing the key issues 
identified in the assessment.   Key education sites are also a high priority

Clubs sites that cater for sports with only a limited offer in the borough and larger multi pitch 
club sites are a medium priority and have analysis area importance and have been identified 
on the basis of the impact that the site will have on addressing the issues identified in the 
assessment.

Page 96



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 42

Low priority sites are club sites with local specific importance and have been identified on a 
site by site basis as issues appertaining to individual sites but that may also contribute to 
addressing the issues identified in the assessment

Costs
The strategic actions have also been ranked as low, medium or high based on cost. The 
brackets in which these sit are: 

(L) -Low - less than £50k; (M) -Medium - £50k-£250k; (H) -High £250k and above. These are 
based on Sport England’s estimated facility costs which can be found at 
www.sportengland.org/media/198443/facility-costs-4q13.pdf

Timescales
The action plan has been created to be delivered over a ten year period. The information 
within the Assessment Report, Strategy and Action Plan will require updating as developments 
occur. The timescales relate to delivery times and are not priority based.

Timescales: (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years). 

Aim
Each action seeks to meet at least one of the three aims of the Strategy; Enhance, Provide, 
Protect. 

Page 97

http://www.sportengland.org/media/198443/facility-costs-4q13.pdf


ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 43

ROCHDALE (BOROUGH) SUMMARY

Football – grass pitches

Overall, it is evident that the existing and future position is there is sufficient capacity to 
accommodate additional demand for adult, and mini pitches and there is the opportunity to 
convert some of these pitches to meet deficiencies in other pitch types.

3G pitches
 .The FA Training Need Model shows that Rochdale has sufficient 3G AGP’s to meet 

current and future training demand.
  There are no full sized 3G AGP’s in the Heywood and Pennines areas, only small sided 

AGP’s.
 There is a desire for a rugby standard AGP for training purposes

Cricket
Total 

Number of 
Pitches

Spare Capacity 
(MES)

Over play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future demand 
(2028)

Total

17 88 70 18 44 -25

 There is sufficient capacity for cricket to meet current needs when the borough is 
viewed as a whole.  There is overplay however at some sites and others are not played 
at or near capacity.  The main incidence of over play is at Walsden CC which is outside 
the borough although the team plays in the Pennines League

 Current over play can be addressed by moving to the use of artificial grass wickets
 When factoring in future demand there are insufficient pitches to meet demand.

Rugby Union
Total 
Number of 
Pitches

Spare Capacity 
(MES)

Over play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future demand 
(2028)

Total

9 0 4 4 1 5

 There is no spare capacity on existing senior rugby union pitches within Rochdale that 
are available for community use. Poor pitch quality is a contributing factor in pitches 
being overplayed. Increased maintenance and potential investment in drainage would 

8 In match equivalent sessions per week

Demand (match equivalent sessions)Pitch type
Actual spare 

capacity8
Overplay Current   

total
Latent/ 

displaced 
demand

Future 
demand 
(2028)

Total

Adult 67 12 55 11 2 42
Junior 7v7 6 0 6 11.5 1 6.5
Junior 9v9 11 12 1 11.5 1 13.5
Mini 26 0 26 0 2 24

Page 98



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 44

increase capacity at Rochdale and Littleborough RUFC and, therefore, alleviate some 
overplay. 

 There are 4 high schools with dedicated rugby pitches.  Only one of these has secured 
community use.

 There is capacity at each of the council’s hub sites.  Rugby pitches could be developed 
to meet demand.

Rugby league
Total 
Number of 
Pitches

Spare Capacity 
(MES)

Over play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future demand 
(2028)

Total

14 9 4 5 1 4

 There is sufficient capacity in the borough as a whole to meet current demand for 
rugby league.

 There is sufficient capacity to meet future demand. 
 There is sufficient capacity if all the people who want to play rugby league decide to 

get active.
 The site at Mayfield is overplayed but the club has secured funding to develop an 

additional pitch.
 The site at Littleborough Rakewood is potentially over played but this is due to 

shared use and poor maintenance rather than the specific demand for rugby league.

Hockey
 The1 pitch and 4 teams who play there is sufficient to accommodate current play.The 

AGP at Oulder Hill should be protected for hockey use.

Lacrosse
 There is one club in Rochdale who has seen junior numbers increase whilst senior 

teams have remained the same.
 Two further teams are in development which are under 10 Boys and under 16 Girls. 

This would increase the demand on the two pitches currently being played.

Rounders
Currently supply meets demand.

Page 99



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 45

Rochdale Growth Scenario
A Housing Growth Scenario was included within the Assessment Report and helped inform 
the Future Demand for pitch sports. Sport England’s New Development Calculator and 
Sports Facilities Calculator was used to estimate how many additional pitches are likely to 
be required by pitch sport throughout the Borough. This is based on an annual requirement 
of 460 dwellings per annum from 2017-2028 (Core Strategy) and an average household size 
2.5 (Council adopted figure):

Pitch Sport 9Estimated demand 
by Pitch Sport 
2028 (pitches)

Adult football 2
Youth football 2
Mini Soccer 2
Rugby Union 1
Rugby League 1
Hockey 0.5
Cricket 1

The table above is for additional pitch provision based on the current population and team 
generation rates extrapolated to 2028 (Core Strategy period). It does not take into account 
population trends or changes in sport participation trends. However, it does quantify the 
need for additional pitches across the Borough to meet additional demand specifically from 
housing growth.

It is recommended the Council runs a Housing Growth scenario over the next 5 years using 
information from the SHLAA to estimate additional demand by analysis area. This will give a 
more accurate figure for pitch provision required which can then be used to help inform 
developer contributions and/or CIL.

9 The calculation is 5,520 dwellings built over 12 years to 2028. Using the current TGR the additional demand is converted into match 
equivalent sessions. Which in turn is converted into the number of pitches required in the peak period..

Page 100



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 46

Boroughwide Actions

1. Establish a working group to oversee the implementation of the action plan to include 
officers of the council, Sport England, sports national governing bodies, Greater 
Sport etc as required.

2. Work with Public Health to develop the linked strategies relating to health and well 
being and physical activity and participation.

3. Work with schools to encourage more community use.

Page 101



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 47

Heywood Summary – Sub Area A

Township Hub Sites
Heywood Sports Village is the central sports hub for Heywood.  It offers a mix of natural 
grass and artificial pitches plus fitness facilities.  It is primarily football focussed.  
The facilities and operation here are closely aligned to the ‘Parklife’ model currently being 
promoted by Sport England, the FA, the Football Foundation and the premier League – a 
multi sports model centred around AGPs with fitness facilities on site to reduce dependence 
on public subsidy.
The full sized AGP has recently been resurfaced and supports a range of competitive and 
casual use.

It is proposed that a cricket strip should be added to support causal use, provide capacity for 
Heywood CC and possibly promote participation through different forms of the game.

There is 1 junior pitch at the edge of the site in very poor condition.  There is sufficient 
capacity on site and in the Heywood sub area and as such it is proposed that this pitch is 
released for development.  There is also some land at the rear of site not in formal sports 
use.  The area is not big enough for an additional pitch and is not used for training.  It is 
proposed that this area is also released to allow the extension of an adjoin allotment site.

Key Education Sites 
There are no key education sites identified in the area.  Heywood Sports Village provides the 
full range of facilities and no supplementary sites are needed.

Key Club Sites
Heywood Cricket Ground is a priority site as it is the only cricket pitch in the Heywood sub 
area

Sutherland Road and Darnhill Playing Fields are the only multi pitch club site in the area.  
Both sites are used by Roach Dynamos Football Club.  Junior Play is concentrated on the 
Sutherland Road pitches and adult play at Darnhill Playing Fields.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total 
Number of 

Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 

(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 9 13 0 13 0 13
Junior 10 2 2 0 2 2
Mini 2 0 0 0 0 0

 There is sufficient capacity to meet current demand for junior and mini pitches although 
this changes to a position of overplay for junior football in the future.

 There is some spare capacity on adult pitches. 
 There may be an opportunity to reconfigure some adult pitches to another pitch type to 

meet deficiencies.

Page 102



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 48

Football – 3G pitches
There are only 2 AGPS in Heywood – at Heywood Sports Village and at Holy Family RC and 
CE College.  Only Heywood Sports Village is available for community use.

Cricket
There is only one cricket club in the area. It is overplayed.
Potential to provide artificial strip at Heywood Sports Village to cater for casual demand. 

Rugby union
 No clubs in the Area.

Rugby league
 No clubs in the area

Hockey
 No clubs in the area

Page 103



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 49

P
age 104



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 50

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

ALL SOULS CE PRIMARY SCHOOL informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

BROWNHILL LEARNING COMMUNITY 
SPECIAL SCHOOL Darnhill Site

informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

DARNHILL PLAYING FIELDS Adult Football

Pitches here and at Sutherland 
Road used by 1 club.  Difficult to 
allocate demand across the 
sites

no action required continue to monitor M 0 L N/A Council  protect

HEYWOOD CRICKET CLUB Cricket KEY CLUB SITE
lack female changing facilities

Work with England cricket and the club 
to develop appropriate changing 
facilities for female players

M H L N
Club / 
governing 
body

Enhance

HEYWOOD CRICKET CLUB Cricket Pitch is overplayed.  
Work with England Cricket to 
encourage club to develop an artificial 
strip for competitive use.  

H L S N
club / 
governing 
body

Enhance

HEYWOOD SPORTS VILLAGE AGP and grass football 
pitches TOWNSHIP HUB SITE

Continue to develop as key hub site 
for Heywood township area - see 
separate section on hub sites 

H O M YES Trust / 
Council  Enhance

HEYWOOD SPORTS VILLAGE unmarked and marginal 
areas

problem with builders rubble 
under the surface

Some areas of the site are not marked 
out and not used for formal play or 
training. Consideration could be given 
to the release of these areas for 
alternative uses. The capital receipt 
realised would be used to enhance 
facilities elsewhere in the township 
area

M L M No Trust / 
Council  Enhance

HOLY FAMILY RC AND CE COLLEGE AGP and grass football 
pitches secure community use

The school advise that this is not 
available for community use, however 
one FC survey identifies use: - seek to 
secure joint use by other schools and 
wider community

L 0 L N/A School / 
Diocese  provide

OUR LADY & ST PAUL RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

PHOENIX RECREATION GROUND Adult Football team would like to refurbish the 
club house

work with club to identify funding to 
refurbish the club house L L  No Club/ 

Council  Enhance

QUEENS PARK adult football Protect through planning. L L  N/A Council  Protect

SIDDAL MOOR SPORTS COLLEGE various grass pitches
 

retain as school playing field L 0  N/A Council  protect

P
age 105



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 51

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

ST LUKES C OF E PRIMARY SCHOOL informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST MARGARET'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

SUTHERLAND ROAD PLAYING 
FIELDS (DARNHIL) mini soccer 5v5  KEY CLUB SITE Work with club to improve security, 

pitch quality and to develop facilities H H M Yes Club / FA  

WOODLAND COMMUNITY PRIMARY informal multi-purpose; 
not marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

P
age 106



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 52

Middleton Summary Sub Area B

Township Hub Sites
The council’s prosed hub site for Middleton Township is Bowlee Playing Fields.  Bowlee 
provides a range of grass pitches plus changing facilities.  There is no AGP on site but the 
playing fields are in close proximity to a number of schools with AGP facilities.  St Marys RC 
Primary, St Anne’s Academy and Cardinal Langley High School have been prioritised as Key 
education sites as they provide facilities to supplement Bowlee.
The pitches at Bowlee have been assessed as being in standard condition and capable of 
supporting the current levels of demand.  The AGP at St Mary’s is potentially over played 
and in poor condition.  It is recommended that greater community access is secured to the 
AGP facilities at Cardinal Langley and St Anne’s Schools.  Funding also needs to be 
identified to replace the AGP at St Marys.
The cricket strip at Bowlee has fallen into disrepair and it is recommended that this is 
reinstated to support causal play in the area and to provide additional training facilities for 
Middleton CC.

The Sports Arena at Hopwood Hall College fulfils the vision of a Sports Hub for Middleton.  It 
provides grass pitches for a variety of pitch sports plus AGPs.  There are fitness facilities 
also on site.
The site has capacity for current and future use.

Key Club Sites
Middleton Cricket Club is a priority site as it is the only Cricket pitch in the Middleton sub 
area.  Likewise Alkrington Mossway is a priority sites as it is the only rugby league facility in 
the area.

Limefield recreation ground is home to Middleton Lads and Girls Football club and is a priority 
as a multi pitch site for a large junior club.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total Number 
of Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 16 12.5 0 12.5 1.5 11

Junior 10 1 0 1 2 1

Mini 1 0 0 0 0 0

 There is sufficient capacity to meet current demand for junior and mini pitches but this 
changes to position of slight overplay when factoring in future demand.

 There is some spare capacity on adult pitches.
 Consideration should be taken to convert some adult pitches to an alternative pitch 

type/size to address deficiencies.
Page 107



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 53

Football – 3G pitches
 There are 4 full size AGPs in Middleton – St Anne’s Academy, Cardinal Langley, The 

Sports Arena and St Marys Primary School.  All are available for community use but 
the use at St Anne’s is limited.  

 St Marys is over played and the surface will need replacing in the next 12 months 
(2017/18).

Cricket
 There is only one cricket club in the area. It is at capacity.
 Potential to provide an artificial strip at Bowlee to cater for casual demand. 

Rugby union
 No clubs in the Area.

Rugby league
 Rochdale Hornets RLFC have reinstated the pitches at Moss Way, Alkrington as a 

training facility.

Hockey
 No clubs in the area.

Page 108



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 54

P
age 109



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 55

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

ALKRINGTON COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

BOWLEE PARK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

BOWLEE PLAYING FIELDS various grass pitches TOWNSHIP HUB SITE
 Bowlee is key hub site for Middleton 
Township but is underutilised.  See 
separate section on hub sites

H M / H M N Council Enhance

CARDINAL LANGLEY RC 
HIGH SCHOOL AGP Demand from clubs for more community 

hours

Seek to secure continued community 
use of the site through formal written 
agreement

H 0 M N/A
Salford 

Diocese / 
School

Enhance

CARDINAL LANGLEY RC 
HIGH SCHOOL Adult Football  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ELM WOOD PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

HOLLIN COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL (CLOSED) 
(SHARED WITH NEWLANDS 
SCHOOL)

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out

 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

KING GEORGE V PLAYING 
FIELDS

Adult Football not marked 
out  

Protect through planning to meet 
future demand

L 0 N/A Council  protect

LIMEFIELD RECREATION 
GROUND

Adult and junior grass 
pitches KEY CLUB SITE.

Work with club and governing body to 
secure the site and to develop 
clubhouse and changing facilities. Work 
with club and FA to improve pitch 
quality. Actions here are limited as site 
is used for other purposes during the 
closed season

H M S No Council Enhance

LITTLE HEATON C OF E 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

MIDDLETON CRICKET CLUB Cricket KEY CLUB SITE.

Work with England Cricket to encourage 
club to develop an artificial strip for 
competitive use.    S106 funding in place 
for improvements to the changing 
facilities

H L S Yes club Enhance

MIDDLETON PARISH C OF E 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Adult Football club site for Adult football work with school to retain facilities for 

community use L L n/a club / school Enhance

MIDDLETON PARISH C OF E 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

MIDDLETON TECHNOLOGY 
SCHOOL various grass pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

P
age 110



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 56

Site Name
(inc. any alias) Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 

Identified Lead AIM

MOSS WAY PLAYING FIELDS 
(ALKRINGTON)

Rugby League not marked 
out  

Protect through planning to meet future 
demand

L 0 N/A Council  protect

PARKFIELD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST ANNE'S ACADEMY Junior Football 9v9  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST JOHN FISHER RC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST MARYS STP RC PRIMARY 
MIDDLETON AGP KEY EDUCATION SITE Playing surface needs replacing within 

the next 12 months.  H H M NO TRUST  protect

ST PETER'S RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST THOMAS MORE RC 
PRIMARY

informal multi-purpose; not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST. GABRIELS CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL Junior Football 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

THE SPORTS 
ARENA@HOPWOOD

AGP, grass football and 
rugby pitches

potentially a complimentary hub site 
for Middleton

Well used site catering for different 
sports and different age groups. Seek to 
work with the provider to ensure facility 
is maintained.

M 0 M Council Protect

P
age 111



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 57

Pennines Summary – Area C

Township Hub Sites
Littleborough Sports Centre is the hub site the Pennines area.  It offers a mix of natural 
grass and artificial pitches plus fitness facilities; the AGP however is very small.  There are 
currently no full sized artificial grass pitches in the Pennines Area.  There is an area at 
Littleborough Sports Centre that used to be a ‘regra’ all weather pitch.  This has not been 
maintained and has fallen into disuse.  It would however provide an ideal sub base for a new 
generation artificial surface.  It is recommended that a full sized AGP facility is developed in 
the Pennines area.  Consideration should be given to this facility catering for the rugby 
playing community in the borough as there is currently no rugby accredited or suitable AGP.
  
The grass pitches are used primarily for football.  There is good quality changing 
accommodation but it does not comply with league requirements for separate changing 
rooms for match officials.  It is recommended that the accommodation is reviewed and 
provision made to satisfy this requirement.
 
It is proposed that a cricket strip should be added to support causal use, provide capacity for 
Littleborough CC and possibly promote participation through different forms of the game.

Key education sites
The Pennines sub area is the only one of the sub areas to have more than one centre.  It is 
made up of the Littleborough, Milnrow and Wardle settlements.  It is proposed that 
Hollingworth Academy is made a priority site to provide facilities to supplement Littleborough 
Sports centre.  Hollingworth Academy has an AGP (not full sized) plus grass pitches.  
Continued community use will need to be formally secured.

Key Club Sites
Littleborough Rakewood site is a key multi pitch site.  It is also the only venue in the sub 
area where rugby league and rugby union are played.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total Number 
of Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 10 9 9 0 0.5 0.5

Junior 5 0 36 3 3 6

Mini 3 0 0 0 0 0

 The overall position is that supply meets demand for adult and mini pitches currently with 
a small amount of overplay on junior pitches. The overplay can be managed within the 
sub area but may require some reconfiguration of pitches.  It is proposed that the pitch at 
Dearnley playing fields is reinstated to address a localised capacity issue

 The overplay is exacerbated when factoring in future demand

Page 112



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 58

Football – 3G pitches
 There are 4 AGPs in the Pennines area although none are full sized.  Capacity is 

limited as all the AGPs are located on school sites.
 There is a need for a full sized AGP in Pennines to meet current football training 

demand.  It is recommended that this is developed at Littleborough Sports Centre.

Cricket
 There are 4 cricket clubs in Pennines plus Walsden cricket club which is outside the 

borough but plays in the Pennines League.    Walsden Cricket pitch is over played.  
Littleborough Cricket pitch is also over played but only marginally.  

 Potential to provide artificial strip at Littleborough Sports Centre to cater for casual 
demand and to provide additional capacity for Littleborough Cricket club.

Rugby union
 There is one rugby union club in the area.  The site at Littleborough Rakewood is 

overplayed.

Rugby league
 There is one rugby league club in the area.  The site at Littleborough Rakewood is 

overplayed.

Hockey
 No clubs in the area.

Page 113



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 59

P
age 114



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 60

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

DEARNLEY PLAYING FIELDS Adult Football
 

Protect through planning to meet future 
demand

L 0 N/A Council  protect

FOTHERGILLS (GREENVALE ) Adult Football only pitch recorded as poor quality in the 
borough no action required continue to monitor L 0 N/A Club  protect

HARE HILL HOLY TRINITY PITCHES Mini Soccer 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

HARE HILL RECREATION GROUND Adult Football not 
marked out     

HOLLINGWORTH ACADEMY 
BUSINESS AND ENTERPRISE 
COLLEGE

AGP and various 
grass pitches KEY EDUCATION SITE

 Possible hub site for Pennines to 
complement Littleborough seek to 
secure community use

H L S NO council 
/ School

 Enhanc
e

LITTLEBOROUGH CRICKET CLUB Cricket
KEY CLUB SITE. more space required to 
accommodate training and introducing 
cricket to children

Pitch is overplayed.  Encourage club to 
develop an artificial strip for 
competitive use.  Look at off site 
training

M L M No club  enhance

LITTLEBOROUGH SPORTS CENTRE AGP and grass 
football pitches

TOWNSHIP HUB SITE
Look to develop site as hub site for 
Pennines Township - see separate section 
on hub sites. AGP on site is too small for 
competitive play.  Changing rooms do not 
meet league requirements for separate 
facilities for officials

Look to develop full sized AGP. 
Enhance changing rooms to meet 
league requirements

H H M No Council Provide

LITTLEBOROUGH SPORTS CLUB 
(RAKEWOOD)

Rugby Union, rugby 
league, cricket and 
football

KEY CLUB SITE
Site is a key club site for Rugby Union but 
also used by football and cricket

Work with club and governing body to 
secure the site and to develop 
clubhouse and changing facilities to 
help retain players - especially women.  
Improve maintenance to improve pitch 
capacity. 

H M M in part Council/  
club  enhance

MILNROW CRICKET CLUB Cricket  protect through planning L 0 N/A Council  protect
MILNROW PARISH CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL AGP  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

MOORHOUSE COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Junior Football 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

NEWHEY COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

various grass 
pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

RUTHERFORD PARK adult football
Only 1st and 2nd teams play here.  No 
capacity at peak times for 3rd team 
especially with increase in junior teams  
Funding in place for new adult pitch

Club would like to create 2nd full sized 
pitch on site.  New club house needed L M M Yes

Club / 
FA / 

Council
 enhance

SACRED HEART RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

SMITHY BRIDGE FOUNDATION 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

P
age 115



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 61

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

ST ANDREW'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

ST JAMES' CE PRIMARY SCHOOL
informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

STANSFIELD HALL CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Junior Football not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

WALSDEN CRICKET CLUB Cricket site is overplayed

Club is located outside of Rochdale 
Borough so council resources cannot 
be allocated to assist the club.  
However club could make use of 
facilities within the borough for training 
use

L L N/A ECB  Enhanc
e

WARDLE HIGH SCHOOL ACADEMY Junior Football not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council  protect

WARDLE RECREATION GROUND 
AND CLOUGH STREET PLAY AREA

Junior Football not 
marked out  

pitch reinstated due to community 
demand   

WHITTLES PARK (Fothergills & 
Whittles FC) Adult Football poor pitch, poor maintenance poor 

changing no action required continue to monitor L O L N/A CLUB  ProtectP
age 116



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 62

Rochdale Summary – Area D

Township Hub Sites
Firgrove playing fields is the key multi sports hub site for the Rochdale Township area.  It is 
technically in Pennines Township but is located close to the township border.  It provides a 
range of natural grass pitches plus changing rooms.  Firgrove playing fields supports rugby 
league and rounders as well as football. 
The changing accommodation is in need of an upgrade and it is recommended that this 
takes place in order to assist with club satisfaction and player retention.
There is no AGP at Firgrove and training is not permitted on the pitches under the terms and 
conditions of use for the site.  The facilities at Firgrove can be supplemented by those at 
Kingsway Park High School where the leisure facilities, pitches and AGP are managed by 
the council’s leisure partner Link4Life. 

Key Education Sites
Kingsway Park High School is a key education site.
Oulder Hill School is also a key education site as it is the only site in the borough where 
hockey is played.  

Key Club Sites
Mayfield Rugby Club is a priority site as it is the only club site supporting rugby league 
(Rugby league is also played at Firgrove).
Rochdale Rugby Union Club is a priority site as it is the only site in the sub area where rugby 
union is played.
Rochdale Squash Cricket and Lacrosse club is a priority site as it is the only site in the 
borough where lacrosse is played.
Top O th Lane Playing Fields and Norden Community School are key club sites as both sites 
support clubs with large numbers of junior teams.

Football – grass pitches
Summary of pitches required to meet current and future demand 

Total Number 
of Pitches

Spare Capacity  
(MES)

Over 
play 
(MES)

Current 
Total

Future 
Demand

Total

Adult 29 32.5 3 29.5 9 20.5

Junior 12 14 7 7 16 -9

Mini 9 26 0 26 0 24

 There is spare capacity across adult and mini pitches currently and when factoring in 
future demand.

 Currently there is minimal spare capacity across junior pitches but this changes to a 
position of overplay (deficiencies) when factoring in future demand.

Page 117



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 63

Football – 3G pitches
 There are 5 AGPS in Rochdale.  3 are full sized.  Capacity is limited on some sites.

Cricket
 There are 5 cricket clubs in the area.  There are no capacity issues.  There is 

sufficient capacity to meet current and future demand.
 There is extensive casual play in the area that has been difficult to quantify.  It is 

proposed that the provision of artificial strips in key locations may assist in capturing 
this participation.  

Rugby union
 There is one rugby union club in the area.  The site at Moorgate is over played.  

Rugby league
 There are 2 rugby league clubs in the area.  There is sufficient capacity overall but 

there are issues of overplay at Mayfield.

Hockey
 There are 2 hockey clubs in the area.  Both play at Oulder Hill School.  There is sufficient 

capacity to meet current and future demand.
 The Oulder Hill School AGP should be protected for hockey.

Rounders
 The Rochdale Ladies Rounders league plays at Firgrove.  There are 28 teams in the 

league.  All matches are played on this central venue.  There are no capacity issues.

Page 118



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 64

P
age 119



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 65

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

ALICE INGHAM RC 
PRIMARY

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ALL SAINTS CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BALDERSTONE PARK 
(FORMERLY Balderstone 
School)

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 lapsed site to be reinstated as a football pitch with new 
changing facilities H M S Yes Council enhance

BALDERSTONE PARK Rugby union, not 
marked out lapsed Part of site has been developed as a skate park

BAMFORD ACADEMY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BAMFORD FIELDHOUSE 
CRICKET CLUB Cricket  Protect through planning. L L N/A Council Protect

BEECH HOUSE SCHOOL 
(use Mandale Park)

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 Protect through planning. L L N/A Council Protect

BELFIELD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BRIMROD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BROADFIELD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL 

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out

 retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

BURTON PARK (leased as 
SANDY BROW PLAYING 
FIELDS Nr Sandy Lane) 

Adult Football Club would like more teams but cannot 
accommodate on this site.  sufficient capacity in local area L 0 N/A Club protect

CALDERSHAW 
COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL (SHARED WITH 
ST. VINCENTS RC 
PRIMARY)

Mini Soccer 5v5

 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

CASTLETON PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

DEEPLISH PRIMARY 
ACADEMY

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

FALINGE PARK HIGH 
SCHOOL/ LENNY BARN 
PLAYING FIELDS

AGP resource for training and casual play
seek to secure continued community use

L 0 N/A Council protect

FALINGE PARK HIGH various grass pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

P
age 120



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 66

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

SCHOOL/ LENNY BARN 
PLAYING FIELDS

FIRGROVE RECREATION 
GROUND PLAYING FIELDS 
AND PAVILLION

grass pitches for 
rugby league, adult 
and junior football, 
and rounders

TOWNHSIP HUB SITE
hub site for Rochdale - see separate section on 
hub sites

Sufficient capacity on site to meet demand.  
Continue with current maintenance regime and 
practices.  Improvements to be made to the 
changing rooms. Aspiration for floodlights but 
further investigation required to establish whether 
there are likely to be any planning issues.

H L S yes Council Protect

FOX PARK /SACRED 
HEART FC (PPG 17 list 
Belfield Sports Ground)

Adult football plans to improve pitches and facilities to allow 
for expansion No action required continue to monitor L 0 N/A Club protect

GREENBANK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HAMER COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HEALEY FOUNDATION 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HEYBROOK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

HOLY FAMILY RC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

KENTMERE ACADEMY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

KINGSWAY PARK SPORTS 
CENTRE & ATHLETICS 
ARENA

Adult Football KEY EDUCATION SITE  Develop as a hub site to supplement Firgrove for 
Rochdale township area. H M S YES School/ 

Trust Enhance

LOWER PLACE Adult Football not 
marked out  

land to be transferred into ownership of Kingsway 
Park High School

LOWER PLACE Junior Football not 
marked out   

LOWER PLACE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Mini Soccer not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

MARLAND HILL 
COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Junior Football 7v7
 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

MATTHEW MOSS HIGH 
SCHOOL AGP Well used for competitive play training by the 

community.  FA  standard AGP
Site has capacity for additional play.  Work with 
school to secure continued community use M L M No School/ 

Council Protect

P
age 121



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 67

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

MATTHEW MOSS HIGH 
SCHOOL various grass pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

MAYFIELD SPORTS 
CENTRE Adult Football

Shared use with Rugby League felt to be 
incompatible.  Only site in the borough with 
stands and turnstiles to facilitate play in the 
higher leagues

instate mobile goal posts so facilities on site allow 
football club to meet league requirements without 
compromising use for rugby league

H L S Yes Club / 
FA Enhance

MAYFIELD SPORTS 
CENTRE Senior Rugby League KEY CLUB SITE for Rugby League Improve maintenance to improve pitch capacity.    

Funding in place to create an additional pitch H H L Yes Club Enhance

MEANWOOD COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

NORDEN COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL various grass pitches  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

NORDEN COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL various grass pitches KEY CLUB SITE for junior football

sufficient capacity on site to meet demand but 
pitches may need to be reconfigured to meet 
deficiencies in other pitch types

M L n/a Club Enhance

NORDEN CRICKET CLUB Cricket no issues no action required continue to monitor L L N/A Club protect

OULDER HILL LEISURE 
COMPLEX (WITHIN 
OULDER HILL SCHOOL 
AND COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE)

AGP
KEY EDUCATION SITE
Sand dressed AGP Full sized suitable for 
Hockey Use

Seek to secure continued community use of the 
site through formal written agreement.  This AGP 
needs to be protected for Hockey.

H 0 N/A School Protect

OULDER HILL LEISURE 
COMPLEX (WITHIN 
OULDER HILL SCHOOL 
AND COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE)

Adult Football Grass pitches of standard quality
demand can be managed on site through 
reallocated of pitches to different formats of the 
game

H 0 n/a Protect

ROCHDALE CRICKET 
LACROSSE AND SQUASH 
CLUB

cricket, lacrosse and 
football draining and new mobile nets required Recommendation to improve maintenance to 

retain quality of pitches. H L Club Enhance

ROCHDALE RUGBY UNION 
FOOTBALL CLUB 
(MOORGATE)

senior rugby union KEY CLUB SITE for rugby union

Increase site capacity through improved 
maintenance. Review joint buy in solutions.  
Support the club to develop a fifth pitch /The 
hollow

H L No
Club / 

Governi
ng body

Enhance

SANDBROOK PRIMARY 
SCHOOL Junior Football 7v7  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

SHAWCLOUGH 
COMMUNITY PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

Junior Football not 
marked out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

SPOTLAND STADIUM Adult Football  Professional club  

P
age 122



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 68

Site Name Pitch Type Key Issues and Views Recommendations and Actions Priority Cost timescale Resources 
Identified Lead AIM

SPRINGFIELD PARK adult football
Club would like to expand and bring disused 
pitches back into use.  Need to improve 
changing facilities

Sustain quality and seek to maximise use. L L N/A Council protect

SPRINGHILL PLAYING 
FIELDS adult football club struggling with unauthorised use and 

vandalism at site Support club with on-going issues L L N/A Club 
/Council enhance

SPRINGHILL PLAYING 
FIELDS adult football   
ST CUTHBERT'S RC 
BUSINESS AND 
ENTERPRISE COLLEGE

Adult Football
 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST EDWARDS CE 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST GABRIEL'S RC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST JOHN'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL THORNHAM 
(Alternative listing as Great 
Howarth PF)

Junior Football 7v7

 

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST JOHN'S RC PRIMARY 
SCHOOL AGP  retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

ST PETER'S CE PRIMARY 
SCHOOL

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

STONEYFIELD 
RECREATION GROUND

Adult Football not 
marked out  

Protect through planning to meet future demand L 0 N/A Council protect

THORNHAM CRICKET 
CLUB Cricket KEY CLUB SITE for junior cricket Unlikely to be capacity at peak times.  Club 

requires more facilities for growing youth teams H L M N/A Club protect

TOP OF THE LANE/ 
HOLLIN LANE PLAYING 
FIELDS, BAMFORD

Adult football, Junior 
football 9 v 9, Junior 
Football 7 V 7, mini 
soccer 5 v 5

KEY CLUB SITE.
Work with club and governing body to secure the 
site, to improve pitch quality and to develop 
clubhouse and changing facilities

M L N/A Council Enhance

WHITTAKER MOSS 
PRIMARY

informal multi-
purpose; not marked 
out  

retain as school playing field L 0 N/A Council protect

P
age 123



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY 2016-2026

rochdale.gov.uk 69Page 124



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 29th August 2017
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Corporate and Resources  
Report Author Michael Garraway  
Public/Private Document Public

Property & Investment Cabinet Sub-Committee

Executive Summary

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

The Cabinet currently has three Sub-Committees undertaking delegated 
functions, one relating to the Commercial Investment Fund and the other 
relating to the Asset Development Fund. It is proposed to amalgamate them 
into one Sub-Committee to enable better scheduling of meetings and efficient 
decision making.  

The Agenda’s will be structured to allow for distinct consideration in relation to 
reports relating to the Commercial Investment Fund and the Asset 
Development Fund. 

The definitive terms of reference for the governance of both the Commercial 
Investment Fund and the Asset Development Fund remain unchanged 
although adopted to reflect the powers of a single Sub-Committee 
arrangement and are appended to this report. 

Decision’s relating to sites identified by Cabinet at the meeting on 3rd June 
2013 as part of the regeneration housing site disposal programme will also be 
undertaken by the Cabinet Sub-Committee.

Recommendation

2.

2.1

2.2

2.3

The functions of the Commercial Investment Sub-Committee and the Asset 
Development Fund Delegated Decision Making Panel be amalgamated into a 
single Cabinet Sub-Committee.

The Sub- Committee be comprised of  the Leader of the Council and Lead for 
Regeneration; Portfolio Holders for Corporate & Resources, Planning & 
Development; Housing & Environment; and Employment Skills and Business

The Quorum for the Sub-Committee be set at 3 Members.

Decision relating to the sites identified for disposal for housing development as 

Page 125

Agenda Item 8



part of the regeneration programme reported to Cabinet in June 2013, be 
determined by the Cabinet Sub-Committee. 

Reason for Recommendation

3. To ensure the statutory requirements in administering the decisions made in 
the disposal of land and those of the Commercial Investment Fund and the 
Asset Development Fund are undertaken efficiently and so as to avoid the risk 
of legal challenge of those decisions.  

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

At the meeting held on 11th July 2016, Cabinet agreed to the creation of an 
invest-to-save vehicle by way of an Asset Development Fund.

The authority to expend and make decision relating to the assets of the fund 
was delegated to a Delegated Decision-Making Panel comprising the Leader 
of the Council and the Cabinet Members for Corporate & Resources and 
Housing & Environment.

At the meeting held on 23rd March 2017, Cabinet agreed to establish the 
Commercial Investment Fund Sub-Committee with responsibility for 
administering the Commercial Investment Fund, including the acquisition of 
property.

The Commercial Investment Fund Sub-Committee comprised of the Leader of 
the Council and the Cabinet Members for Corporate & Resources, 
Employment Skills and Business, and Planning & Development.

At the meeting of Cabinet held on 3rd June 2013 Cabinet agreed to a 
programme for disposal of Council-owned sites in the borough that were to be 
used for new-build housing developments.  

Decisions relating to the disposal of these sites was delegated to a Panel 
consisting of the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, 
Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Resources and the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing & Environment; in consultation with the Chief Executive, Chief 
Finance Officer and relevant Township Chair. 

Amalgamating three decision making bodies into one composite Sub-
Committee will enable the Council to ensure the decisions are compliant with 
the statutory requirements of executive decision making. The similar nature of 
the rolls of the three existing bodies should allow for fluent agenda’s for 
meetings.   

The terms of reference attached at Appendix 1 to this report reflect the 
requirements of a single Cabinet Sub-Committee.  

Alternatives Considered

To retain existing decision making bodies with separate decision making 

Page 126



functions. 

Costs and Budget Summary

5.

5.1

5.2

5.3

Determine use of the £1m per annum from unallocated capital receipts for use 
by the “Asset Development Fund” for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20. The 
allocated capital in the Fund will be supplemented by:
 Capital receipts from the disposal of properties within the investment 

portfolio, which will enable the receipts to be recycled back into the 
portfolio by way of acquisitions or other improvements.

 Surplus rental income over and above the budgeted income for 2016/17.

On 01 March 2017, Council approved a total of £30m to be set aside from the 
Council’s Capital Programme for 2016-2019 as a “Commercial Investment 
Fund”. 

The Asset Development Fund includes an annual investment over 4 years of 
£1m in each financial year from 2016 using unallocated capital receipts.

The assets in the Investment Portfolio (C&I Estate) are earmarked for the use 
of the Asset Development Fund, along with budgetary responsibility. For the 
full term of the Asset Development Fund the fund will pay to the Council all net 
rents in accordance with the 2016/17 budget. 

Risk and Policy Implications

There are no risks associated with the amalgamation of the three separate 
panels and that to do so would be in line with the Council’s drive toward 
effective and timely decision making.

Each meeting is subject to statutory rules on publication of pre-meeting 
notices, agenda’s and decision notices.  The amalgamation of these bodies 
will assist in ensuring decisions made are in accordance with those legal 
requirements.

6.

6.1

Consultation

7. No consultation has been undertaken. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. There are no background papers. N/A

For Further Information Contact: Michael Garraway  , Tel: 01706 924716, 
michael.garraway@rochdale.gov.uk

 

Page 127



Appendix 1

Property & Investment Cabinet Sub-Committee 

Composition

The Sub- Committee will comprise of five Members of the Cabinet consisting of the 
Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Regeneration; Cabinet Member for 
Corporate & Resources; Cabinet Member for Planning & Development; Cabinet 
Member for Housing & Environment; and the Cabinet Member for Employment, 
Skills & Business.

The quorum of the Sub- Committee shall be three members of the cabinet.

The chairman of the panel shall be the Leader of the Council.

No substitute arrangements will apply to the Sub-Committee

Role

The Sub- Committee will be responsible for all decisions relating to the Commercial 
Investment Fund and the Asset Development Fund.

The Sub- Committee will meet as and when required to deal with property disposals 
or acquisitions within the scope of both Funds. 

Terms of Reference

 To ensure that all relevant stakeholders have been consulted on any disposal 
and that their views are taken into account.

 To recommend changes to the processes in relation to the administration of the 
Commercial Investment Fund arising from deliberations where these could be 
made more efficient and effective.

 To consider and recommend to Cabinet and if necessary Council any new bids 
for capital resources that arise during a financial year not currently provided for 
within the approved Fund.

 To consider and recommend to Cabinet and Council the capital program each 
year as part of the budget process.

 To take all executive decisions relating to the Commercial Investment Fund and 
the Asset Development Fund in accordance with the following 

 To take all executive decisions relating to the sites identified by Cabinet at the 
meeting on 3rd June 2013 as part of the regeneration housing site disposal 
programme

Page 128



Appendix 1

Commercial Investment Fund

Budget

 Determine use of the £1m per annum from unallocated capital receipts for use by 
the “Asset Development Fund” for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20. The allocated 
capital in the Fund will be supplemented by:

o Capital receipts from the disposal of properties within the investment 
portfolio, which will enable the receipts to be recycled back into the 
portfolio by way of acquisitions or other improvements.

o Surplus rental income over and above the budgeted income for 2016/17.
 On 01 March 2017, Council approved a total of £30m to be set aside from the 

Council’s Capital Programme for 2016-2019 as a “Commercial Investment Fund”. 

Objectives of the Commercial Investment Fund

 Prudential Borrowing may be deployed to support some acquisitions from the 
Commercial Investment Fund, and that, therefore the costs of borrowing should 
be used as the basis for the minimum return the Council should obtain from its 
investments. The return on the investment will be used to reinvest in the delivery 
of Council services.

 Properties selected for acquisition will be on the basis of providing a net yield on 
investment of at least 1.5% after the inclusion of all acquisition fees, all 
management expenses and the annual borrowing rate. 

 The risks of acquiring investment property will normally be mitigated by acquiring 
properties that:

o Have the potential for rental growth due to under-renting or through 
provisions for rent reviews.

o Are let to tenant(s) with a strong financial covenant.
o Have tenants on full repairing and insuring (FRI) terms, or internal 

repairing terms only where the costs of the landlord’s retained 
responsibilities are fully recoverable.

o Provide the Council with the freehold or long-leasehold interests with a 
minimum of 99 years unexpired term, or with the provision to extend the 
term to that extent.

 Where the property is considered relatively easy to either re-let on expiry of the 
tenant’s lease, or to dispose of the Council’s interest to realise capital value.

Further delegations

 The Director of Economy be delegated the ability, as required, to identify and 
acquire the services of a consultant who is an expert in the investment market.

 The Director of Economy be delegated the authority to procure external expertise 
to support the activities undertaken by the Fund.

Page 129



Appendix 1

 The Sub-Committee will approve the program of acquisitions and the budget for 
each project, which will be subsequently managed by the Director of Economy 
using the authority delegated  in accordance with the following criteria:

o The authority to approve spend of up to an additional 10% of the approved 
budget, and within the overall  budget, up to a maximum of £100,000, for 
each project previously approved by the  Sub-Committee, to cover 
reasonable variations in anticipated costs, eg amended terms and 
conditions, fees, legal costs, taxes etc, subject to the exercise of the 
authority being reported to a subsequent meeting of the Cabinet Sub-
Committee.

o The authority to approve expenditure of up to £50,000 per annum for pre-
acquisition expenses such as feasibility studies, the employment of 
acquisition consultancy advice and due diligence for potential investments, 
where the potential acquisition meets the investment criteria set out in 
paragraph 4.7 of this report.

o The authority to make a conditional, or otherwise non-binding offer on 
acquisitions where time is limited and the Cabinet Sub-Committee cannot 
be assembled in the required timeframe.

The following authority will be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council and/or another member of the Property Investment 
Cabinet Sub-Committee.

 The authority to bid for property at auction, including the budget available to 
complete the purchase, where the acquisition will meet the investment criteria 
and time is limited, on production of a business case accompanied by a formal 
valuation and project appraisal.

 The authority to acquire investment property where exceptional circumstances 
exist due to time constraints that make it impossible for a quorate meeting of the 
Cabinet Sub-Committee to take place in time to approve the acquisition in 
advance.

Asset Development Fund

Budget

 The Asset Development Fund includes an annual investment over 4 years of £1m 
in each financial year from 2016 using unallocated capital receipts.

 The assets in the Investment Portfolio (C&I Estate) are earmarked for the use of 
the Asset Development Fund, along with budgetary responsibility. For the full 
term of the Asset Development Fund the fund will pay to the Council all net rents 
in accordance with the 2016/17 budget. 

 The Council’s property assets managed by Rochdale Development Agency for 
regeneration purposes are earmarked for the use of the Asset Development 
Fund. 

Page 130



Appendix 1

 Council assets, formally approved by Members for disposal, excepting those 
earmarked to achieve the specific objectives of the Strategic Housing Service, 
are earmarked for the use of the Asset Development Fund. 

 At each year end the Asset Development Fund will retain the following funds to 
invest in the subsequent financial year:

o Any underspend on the accumulated capital grant of £4m.
o Any gross rental income above the 2016/17 budget.
o Any capital receipts from disposal of assets in the investment portfolio.
o Any uplift in capital receipt from assets approved for disposal that is 

directly attributable to investment from the development fund

Objectives of the Asset Development Fund

 The Asset Development Fund will then be used to:
o Enhance the revenue value of the assets within the fund through sale of 

poor performing assets, new lettings, refurbishment or acquisition.
o Enhance the capital value of assets marketed for sale.
o Invest in site assembly to facilitate or to improve the viability of a 

development site.
o Invest in activities on existing sites to enhance value.

 The following property assets are earmarked for use by the Asset Development 
Fund:

o All assets leased out and together comprising the investment portfolio.
o All assets held for regeneration purposes and managed by the Rochdale 

Development Agency
o All assets approved for disposal, excepting those earmarked to achieve 

the specific objectives of the Strategic Housing Service
 The ongoing success of the development fund would be measured by an 

aggregation of the following benefits:
o Retained rental income increasing year on year and/or
o Development value unlocked
o Economic benefits
o Levered investment
o Business rates income
o Jobs created.

 The annual outturn of the Asset Development Fund will be reported annually to 
Cabinet and, more frequently as necessary to support strategic decision-making, 
to the Cabinet Sub-Committee.

Further delegations

 Approval of expenditure from the fund up, to a maximum of £250,000, is 
delegated to the Director of Economy in consultation with the Director of 
Resources, provided that the expenditure is within an annual programme of 
strategic objectives approved by the Sub-Committee.

Page 131



Appendix 1

Regeneration Housing site disposal programme

Objectives of the regeneration housing site disposal programme

 In considering options for the disposal and delivery of housing sites, the 
maximum possible benefits (both financial and strategic) for the Council will be 
sought.  This will be achieved by seeking to prioritise the outcomes from the 
disposal of assets and adopting the following principle’s:

o Delivery of new homes;
o A capital receipt;
o Overage payments;
o Any other conditions that can be applied.

Further delegations

 The Head of Legal be authorised to complete any contractual, incidental and 
ancillary documents relating to the disposal or development of sites.

 The appropriate Township Chair be consulted prior to the determination for 
disposal of all sites.

Page 132



Document is Restricted

Page 133

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 141

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 142

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Edenfield Road, Rochdale - Sandy Lane to Cutgate - Objections to Traffic Order
	Report Considered by Rochdale Township Action and Resources Delegated Sub

	7 Playing Pitch Strategy
	Append. 2 for Playing Pitch Strategy

	8 Property & Investment Cabinet Sub-Committee
	Cabinet Property & Investment Sub-Committee Appendix 1

	10 Future Funding of Local Welfare Provision
	Append. 1 for Future Funding of Local Welfare Provision
	Append. 2 for Future Funding of Local Welfare Provision


